

# REGIONAL STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK: RANGELAND MANAGEMENT FOR ARID AND SEMI-ARID LANDS OF THE IGAD REGION











# REGIONAL STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK: RANGELAND MANAGEMENT IN ARID AND SEMI-ARID LANDS OF THE IGAD REGION (RRMSF)



## DISCLAIMER

This Regional Rangeland Management strategic framework was prepared with financial assistance from the World Bank through the Regional Pastoral Livelihoods Resilience Project (RPLRP). As such, the designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of IGAD. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed are solely those of the author and consulted representatives of IGAD Member States, and do not constitute in any way the official position of IGAD Centre for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) and the World Bank.

**Cover Photo:** Cattle in a Ranch in Laikipia County

Photo Credit: Oliver Wasonga

© 2020, IGAD Centre for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD)





## FOREWORD

Rangeland ecosystems in arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs) stretch over 60 percent of the IGAD region landmass. It is an important economic resource, has ecological significance and cultural values for the inhabitant pastoral and agro-pastoral communities. It provides feed for domestic animals, wood for fuel and construction, raw materials for household consumption and for industries including honey and minerals and other rangelands products – directly supporting livelihoods of more than 10 per cent of the region's population. The management of the rangelands, now and into the future, is therefore of great interest and consequence to the whole region.

Rangelands in the IGAD region are undergoing changes as a result of climatic stresses, weak governance institutions and unregulated use. Maintaining and improving rangelands productivity, to match with the competing needs of growing livestock, wildlife and human populations, requires some form of planned inputs. Such inputs can be financial, technological, improved practices, governance institutions, research and among others. Governments and communities in the IGAD Member States have been exercising different rangeland management practices. However, these efforts have so far been largely piecemeal, uncoordinated and not informed by a clear well-articulated regional strategy.

In recognition of the shared rangeland resources, interconnectedness of issues and shared responsibilities amongst the countries and communities, the IGAD Center for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) has facilitated the process of developing this strategic framework with inputs from rangeland stakeholders in the region including government and non-state actors. It was planned that this framework would guide the preparation of context specific strategy at national and sub-national levels in each of our Member States. It is my humble wish that this will come to pass in the not too distant future.

**Dr. S. J. Muchina Munyua** Director, ICPALD

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This Regional Rangeland Management Strategic Framework (RRMSF) is a product of comprehensive literature review of policy documents, plans, strategies of the IGAD Member States and other related information, as well as consultative meetings held in Ethiopia, Kenya, Sudan and Uganda.

The RRMSF received substantive input and review by experts and consultative teams comprising individual rangeland experts, as well as representatives of stakeholders and partner institutions within IGAD Member States. IGAD is grateful to the lead consultant, various experts, academia, government officials and representatives of development agencies and communities for their invaluable contributions that formed the basis of this strategy.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Rangelands in the IGAD region are the backbone of livestock industry and contribute significantly to the member countries' national GDP by providing various economic and livelihood opportunities. They comprise about 60 -70% of the total land area and are home to pastoralist and agro-pastoralist communities whose livelihoods mainly depend on extensive livestock production and rain-fed agriculture. With over 60% of livestock population found in the rangelands, livestock sector contributes 10% – 50% of the region's individual countries' agricultural GDP. Besides livestock production, these areas support rich diversity of flora and fauna of socio-cultural, economic and ecological importance. They are also sources of mineral, oil and gas and provide a host of ecosystem services including acting as watersheds and supporting important biogeochemical cycles. However, rangelands in the IGAD region are facing a number of challenges. These include inadequate policies: legal, institutional and organizational frameworks; declining range condition and productivity due to degradation and land fragmentation; and, poor regulation of access to rangeland resources due to weak governance institutions.

Other challenges are insecure land rights and tenure; restricted cross-border and inter-community herd movement; inadequate research, extension and human resource capacity to support implementation of rangeland management programmes; poor knowledge management system; low investment in sustainable rangeland management skills; and frequent droughts and climate change. The drought and erratic flood episodes normally result in depletion of water and pasture resources, often leading to conflict over the scarce resources, as well as livestock losses.

Sustainable management of the vast rangelands in view of the aforementioned challenges therefore remains one of the major concerns for researchers, policy makers and development practitioners in the IGAD region. It is against this background and recognizing the interconnectedness of issues, shared responsibilities amongst countries that IGAD undertook the development of the RRMSF for the ASALs in the region.

In preparing the RRMSF, ICPALD employed the principles of ownership, participation and partnership with the IGAD Member States and various stakeholders. The RRMSF is therefore a product of mixed approaches that included comprehensive literature review, consultative meetings and key informant interviews, as well as field observations conducted among selected Member States of IGAD namely; Ethiopia, Kenya, Sudan and Uganda, between January and July 2019.

The reviewed literature included Member States policies, strategies, reports and other documents and scientific publications, while stakeholders consultation were mainly with rangeland management experts, decision makers, development agencies and pastoral and agro-pastoral community representatives. The situation analysis focussed on the challenges facing rangelands in the region, existing interventions, opportunities and priority actions to achieve sustainable rangeland management. In addition, the RRMSF was subjected to a validation exercise in a workshop attended by participants from the IGAD Members States representing practisioners, academia and civil society.

The broad objective of the RRMSF is to achieve sustainable rangeland management in IGAD region by addressing challenges facing rangelands through harmonization of policies and practices among the Member States, as a way of complementing the efforts of the IGAD Member States in sustainable rangeland management. The RRMSF, comprises proposed interventions based on 10 strategic objectives drawn from the literature review and consultations with experts and decision makers in the region. In addition, the RRMSF presents resources required to deliver the activities, expected outputs and outcomes, as well as indicators for their attainment as prerequisite for achieving sustainable and equitable access to rangeland resources.

The RRMSF is composed of four main sections. Section one presents definition of rangelands, background information on characteristics of rangelands, and their global extent. This section also presents an overview of the rangelands of the IGAD region highlighting the spatial coverage, socio-economic and ecological significance, the justification and objective of RRMSF, as well as the methodological approach used in the development of the Strategic Framework. Section two covers the situation analysis and brief overview of the main challenges and threats to sustainable rangeland management in the region. Section three presents a review of global, continental and regional policies and agreements related to rangeland management. Section four contains the strategic actions designed to realise the overall goal of sustainable rangeland management in the ASALs of IGAD region.

Lastly, conclusions are drawn from the challenges, existing interventions, opportunities and priority actions in the IGAD region.

The action plan of the RRMSF comprises the following strategic objectives and the associated interventions:

**Strategic Objective 1:** To improve policy and legal framework for rangeland management by supporting processes towards requisite policy environment and institutional support. This is expected to be achieved through implementation of existing policies or formulation of new ones where they do not exist, as well as through harmonization of rangeland related policies.

**Strategic Objective 2:** To strengthen organizational capacity for rangeland management through staffing, budgeting and equipping Departments and Agencies responsible for rangeland management, both at national and sub-national levels. It also include recognition and facilitation of traditional institutions of rangeland management to discharge their roles. This will ensure that rangeland issues receive requisite attention, and that there is adequate capacity to respond to challenges as they arise.

**Strategic Objective 3:** To improve rangeland health and productivity through reseeding and management of invasive species and re-introduction of native species, grazing management through participatory rangeland management planning and sustainable land management (SLM) practices. This is expected to result in increased rangeland plant cover and diversity; reduced soil erosion and vegetation degradation; improved range condition resulting in increased availability and improved quality of pasture.

**Strategic Objective 4:** To strengthen governance of rangeland resources through recognition and mainstreaming of customary institutions and development of legislation to enable enforcement of by-laws. This is expected to ensure regulated access and responsible use of rangeland resources.

**Strategic Objective 5:** To secure land rights and tenure regimes in the rangelands through formulation of land policies and enactment of relevant land laws. Emphasis will be given to the consolidation of rural land laws and regulations, leveraging on the existing customary institutions to develop rangeland rights; and development and implementation of frameworks for regional and national land policies.

**Strategic Objective 6:** To regulate rangeland use through land use policies and planning. This will entail formulation of land use policies and requisite laws by Member States; designation and gazettement of livestock corridors; and capacity building for rangeland managers in participatory rangeland management; and formulation of policies to harmonize and regulate multiple uses for optimization of benefits from the rangelands.

**Strategic Objective 7:** To establish and/or operationalize trans-border within countries, transhumance agreements and inter-community resource sharing mechanisms for free, safe and peaceful sharing of rangeland resources. This will require functional bilateral and multilateral cross-border and negotiated inter-community resource sharing agreements to facilitate movement of people and livestock across communities and national boundaries, and therefore ensure even use of the range landscapes and reduced conflicts over resources.

**Strategic Objective 8:** To improve research, extension, human resource capacity and knowledge management through support of research activities and training of various cadres of rangeland management personnel. This will involve awareness raising and deepening understanding of rangeland ecosystems and pastoral production system among experts and decision makers.

**Strategic Objective 9:** To promote investment in sustainable rangeland management by creating various incentives. Among these are; revealing total economic value of rangelands and creating opportunities for value addition of rangeland products to attract private investment in rangeland management.

**Strategic Objective 10:** To strengthen drought risk management and climate change adaptation and mitigation through appropriate drought risk management and interventions. Among them is mainstreaming climate adaptation into development planning; strengthening existing regional drought early warning system and contingency fund to permit early action in case of impending drought; and promotion of ecosystem based adaptation and mitigation measures through payment of ecosystem services approaches and livelihood diversification.

Whereas considerable progress has been made in formulating policies related to rangeland management in individual IGAD Member States and regionally, there are still significant challenges that could be addressed by harmonizing the existing policies and drawing lessons from on-going interventions in various countries.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DISCLAIMER	ii
FOREWORD	<b>iii</b>
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	<b>v</b>
LIST OF TABLES	<b>xii</b>
LIST OF FIGURES	<b>xiii</b>
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	xiv
INTRODUCTION	1
1 Definition of Rangelands	1
1.2 Classification of Rangelands	1
1.2.1 Classification Based on Aridity	1
1.2.2 Physiognomic Classification	2
1.3 The Geographical Context of Rangelands	3
1.3.1 Global	3
1.3.2 Africa	3
1.3.3 IGAD Region	4
1.4 Significance of Rangelands	4
1.4.1 Socio-Economic and Ecological Importance of Rangelands	4
1.5 Managing Rangeland Ecosystems	5
1.5.1 The Socio-Economic-Biophysical Nexus in Rangelands	5
1.5.2 Rangeland Management	6
1.6 Justification for the Regional Rangeland Management Strategic Framework	7
1.7 The Objectives of the Strategic Framework	8
1.8 Methodological Approach	8
SITUATION ANALYSIS	9

2.1	Challenges and Threats to Sustainable Rangeland Management in IGAD Region9
	2.1.1 Inadequate Policy, Legal, Institutional and Organizational Framework
	2.1.2 Rangeland Degradation10
	2.1.3 Weak Governance of Rangeland Resources12
	2.1.4 Insecure Land Tenure, Land Use Change and Rangeland Fragmentation
	2.1.5 Restricted Transboundary and Inter-Community Resource Sharing13
	2.1.6 Inadequate Research, knowledge Management, Extension and Human Resource Capacity14
	2.1.7 Inadequate Investment in Sustainable Rangeland Management15
	2.1.8 Recurrent Drought and Climate Change
A REVI STRAT	EW OF RANGELAND MANAGEMENT RELATED POLICIES, EGIES, AGREEMENTS AND INITIATIVES17
3.1	Global Agenda, Resolutions and Initiatives17
3.2	Continental Policies
3.3	Regional Strategies
3.4	National Policies and Strategies21
STRAT MANA	EGIC ACTIONS FOR ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE RANGELAND GEMENT22
4.1	Overall Goal22
4.2	Strategic Objective 1: Improve Policy and Legal Frameworks for Rangeland Management23
	4.2.1 The Challenge: Inadequate Policy and Legal Framework23
4.3.	Strategic Objective 2: Enhance Institutional and Organizational Capacity
	4.3.1 The Challenge: Low Institutional and Organizational Capacity 25
4.4	Strategic Objective 3: Improve Rangeland Health and Productivity27
	4.4.1 The Challenge: Soil Erosion, Declining Vegetation Cover, Forage Production and Plant Diversity

		4.4.2	The Challenge: Spread of Invasive and Weedy Plant Species in the Rangelands2	29
	4.5	Strate Resou	gic Objective 4: Strengthen Governance of Rangeland	30
		4.5.1	The Challenge: Weak Statutory and Customary Institutions	30
	4.6	Strate	gic Objective 5: Secure Rangeland Rights and Tenure	32
		4.6.1	The Challenge: Insecure Land Rights and Tenure in the Rangelands	32
	4.7	Strate	gic Objective 6: Regulate Rangeland Use and Planning	33
		4.7.1	The Challenge: Rangeland Encroachment and Fragmentation	33
	4.8	Strate Cross- Inter-(	gic Objective 7: Establishment and /or Operationalizing of Border and within Countries Transhumance Agreements and Community Resource Sharing Mechanisms	35
		4.8.1	The Challenge: Restricted Transboundary and Inter-Community Resource Sharing	35
	4.9	Strate Resou	gic Objective 8: Improve Research, Extension, Human Irce Capacity and Knowledge Management	37
		4.9.1	The Challenge: Inadequate Research, Extension and Technical Training, and Poor Knowledge Management	37
	4.10	Strate) Range	gic Objective 9: Promote Investment in Sustainable eland Management	39
		4.10.1	The Challenge: Inadequate Investment in Rangeland Management	39
	4.11	Strate Clima	gic Objective 10: Strengthen Drought Risk Management, te Change Adaptation and Mitigation4	11
		4.11.1	The Challenge: Frequent Droughts and Climate Change	11
5.	IMP	LEMEN	ITATION FRAMEWORK	12
	5.1	Imple	menting Institutions & Organizations	12
	5.2	Coord	ination, Planning, Monitoring and Reporting	13
	5.3	Overs	ight4	13
	5.4	Road I	Map for Domestication of the RRMSF4	13
С	ONCL	USION	۷۷	14
RE	REFERENCES			

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Classification of arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs)	2
Table 2:	Some Rangeland Related National Policies and Strategies in IGAD Region	21
Table 3:	Action Plan for Improving Policy and Legal Framework for Rangeland Management	23
Table 4:	Action Plan for Improving Institutional and Organizational Capacity for Rangeland Management	25
Table 5:	Action Plan for Restoration of Rangeland Cover, Plant Diversity and Productivity	27
Table 6:	Action Plan for Management of Invasive and Weedy Plants Species	29
Table 7:	Action Plan for Strengthening Governance of Rangeland Resources	30
Table 8:	Action Plan for Securing Rangeland Rights and Tenure	31
Table 9:	Action Plan for Regulating Rangeland Use	33
Table 10:	Action Plan for Establishing/Operationalizing Cross-Border and within Countries Transhumance Agreements and Inter-Community Resource Sharing Mechanisms	35
Table 11:	Action Plan for Improving Research, Extension, Human Resource Capacity, and Knowledge Management	37
Table 12:	Action Plan for Promoting Investment in Sustainable Rangeland Management	39
Table 13:	Action Plan for Strengthening Drought Risk Management, Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation	40

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1:	Rangelands of the World
Figure 2:	Rangelands of IGAD Region4
Figure 3:	Rangelands as Complex Socio-Ecological Systems6
Figure 4:	Cause-Effect Framework of Challenges in the Rangelands of IGAD Region9
Figure 5:	Land Degradation Index Map for IGAD (May –Sept, 2010)11
Figure 6:	Long-term Aveage Drought Episodes in IGAD Region15
Figure 7:	Objective Tree for Achieving Sustainable Rangelands22

# **ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS**

AEZ	Agro-Ecological Zone
ALRMP	Arid Lands Resource Management Programme
AU	African Union
CBAHW	Community Based Animal Health Workers
CCCF	County Climate Change Fund
COMESA	Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa
CRM	Climate Risk Management
EBA	Ecosystem Based Adaptation
EWS	Early Warning System
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FDRE	Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia
FEWS	Famine Early Warning System
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GIS	Geographic Information System
GIZ	German Society for International Cooperation
GoK	Government of Kenya
ICPALD	IGAD Center for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development
IGAD	Intergovernmental Authority on Development
IIED	International Institute for Environment and Development
ILRI	International Livestock Research Institute
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources
LEWS	Livestock Early Warning System
MS	Member State
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
PRM	Participatory Rangeland Management
RPLRP	IGAD Regional Pastoral Livelihoods Resilience Project
RRMSF	Regional Rangeland Management Strategic Framework
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SLM	Sustainable Land Management
SRM	Sustainable Rangeland Management
TBNRM	Trans boundary Natural Resource Management
TEV	Total Economic Valuation
TVET	Technical Vocational Education and Training Institute
UNCCD	United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEA	United Nations Environment Assembly
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
USAID	US Agency for International Development
WISP	World Initiative for Sustainable Pastoralism

# INTRODUCTION

#### 1. Definition of Rangelands

In the context of this strategy, rangelands refer to types of land within Arid and Semi-Arid Lands (ASALs) dominated by natural or semi-natural vegetation suitable for extensive livestock production and wildlife conservation (Homewood, 2004; Pratt et al., 1966; http://globalrangelands.org), but are less suitable for arable farming due to climatic limitations such as scarce and unreliable rainfall, high evapo-transpiration and poor soils (FAO, 2008). Allen et al. (2011) define rangelands as "Land on which the indigenous vegetation (climax or sub-climax) is predominantly grasses, grass-like plants or shrubs that are grazed or have the potential to be grazed, and which is used as a natural ecosystem for the production of grazing livestock and wildlife". Earlier definitions of rangelands by Pratt et al. (1966) and Pratt and Gywnne (1977) depict rangelands as "land carrying nature or semi-natural vegetation which provides habitat suitable for herds of wild or domestic ungulates. All these definitions characterize rangelands as lands supporting vegetation suitable for grazing/browsing where livestock are managed extensively and feed on native vegetation; where rainfall is considered to be too low or erratic for agricultural cropping or for improved pastures production.<sup>1</sup> Rangelands include annual and perennial grasslands, shrub and dry woodlands, savannah, tundra, and desert (Pratt and Gywnne (1977).

# **1.2 Classification of Rangelands**

#### 1.2.1 Classification Based on Aridity

Based on aridity index, rangelands are classified into various agro-ecological zones (AEZs) that include hyper arid, arid, semi-arid and dry sub-humid. The AEZs are derived from moisture indices (annual rainfall expressed as a percentage of potential evaporation - Eo) (Sombroek et al., 1982). The relevant rangeland zones are categorized as semi-humid to arid regions covering AEZs four (IV), five (V), six (VI) and seven (VII), all having moisture indices of less than 50 percent and receiving ≤1000 mm mean annual rainfall (Table 1). Whereas there are pockets of agriculturally high potential areas in the rangelands, most parts of the rangelands are arid and semi-arid with high crop failure. The AEZ VI (semi-humid to semi-arid) is productive rangeland with marginal agricultural potential; AEZ V (semi-arid) with annual rainfall typically less than 600 mm is mainly comprised of dry thorn-bush land with dispersed trees and is only suitable for extensive livestock production; AEZ VI is arid, and AEZ VII is very arid and is classified as desert.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> (https://www.agric.wa.gov.au/rangelands/rangelands-glossary)

Table 1: Classification of Arid and Semi-Arid Lands (ASALs)

AEZ	r/E <sub>0</sub> (%)	r (mm)	E <sub>0</sub> (mm)	Climatic Designation
IV	40-50	750-900	1800-1880	Semi-humid to semi-arid
V	25-40	525-750	1880-2095	Semi-arid
VI	15-25	520-525	2095-2150	Arid
VII	<1	170-320	2150-2280	Very arid

 $\mathbf{r}$  = Average annual rainfall;  $\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{n}}$  = Average annual potential evaporation

#### 1.2.2 Physiognomic Classification

Rangeland vegetation includes grasslands, shrublands, savannahs and woodlands, with some degree of intermediate vegetation associations between the dominant forms (Reid et al, 2007; Pratt et al., 1966; Pratt and Gywnne, 1977):

#### • Shrublands

These are vegetation classes composed of mainly multi-stemmed woody vegetation, which are smaller in stature to trees but larger than herbs. Shrubs range from 1 - 8 meters tall depending on the bio-physical environments, and often dominate areas receiving about 200 - 700mm of rainfall per year (Reid et al, 2007).

#### Woodlands

Woodlands are characterized by tree canopy cover of more than 10% and herbaceous layer and unlike the forests that form interacting and closed canopy crown, in woodlands the crown have larger openings that give rise to shrubs, herbs or grass to survive. The woodlands are classified on the basis of tree density and ground cover: closed, sparse, and those with understorey of shrubs, herbs and grasses. Woodlands are normally found in areas receiving average annual precipitation of between 300 and 1000mm per year. Some of the dominant woody vegetation species in the region's rangelands are members of the Acacia genera such as *A. tortilis, A. derepanolobium, A. reficiens, A. xanthophloea, A. brevispica, A. mellifera,* among others. The Acacias are often interspersed with other species, among others, *Balanites aegyptiaca, Commiphora* species, *Combretum* species, Croton species, *Adansonia digitata*, and Euphorbia species (Reid et al, 2007).

#### Grasslands

Grasslands are found in areas with sufficient moisture for grasses to grow; but where biophysical conditions and anthropogenic disturbances do not favour growth of trees. They occur in areas that receive average annual rainfall ranging from 100 - 600mm. The grasslands are dominated by grasses and grass-like herbaceous plants with less than 10% tree and shrub cover. The main grass species include *Themeda triandra, Chloris gayana, Cynodon dactylon, Panicum maximum and Setaria sphacelata, Aristida species, Eragrostis superba, Cenchrus ciliaris, Chrysopogon species, Pennisetum species, and Hyparrhenia species, among others (Reid et al, 2007). When rainfall exceeds 400 mm per year, shrubs or even forest flourish resulting into intermediate sub-types such as bushed grasslands and wooded grasslands.* 

# 1.3 The Geographical Context of Rangelands

#### 1.3.1 Global

Globally, rangeland ecosystems cover about 40% of land area occupied by more than 38% of the total global population (MEA, 2005). Figure 1 shows global distribution and extent of rangelands.



Figure 1: Rangelands of the World

#### 1.3.2 Africa

In Africa, approximately 43% of land surface is classified as rangelands, more than half of the 70% of the terrestrial surface that is categorized as drylands (UNEP, 2009). With approximately 40% of the continent's land dedicated to pastoralism (Bollig et al., 2013; FAO, 2018.), it is the main source of livelihoods for the rural population in the vast rangelands of Africa.

#### 1.3.3 IGAD Region

The IGAD region consists of eight countries namely Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan and Uganda and supports human population of about 300 million within a total area of 5,209,975 sq. km out of which about 60 -70% is classified as arid and semi-arid rangelands (IGAD, 2017; IGAD, 2015). Figure 2 shows the extent of rangelands in the IGAD region.



Figure 2: Rangelands of IGAD Region

# 1.4 Significance of Rangelands

#### 1.4.1 Socio-Economic and Ecological Importance of Rangelands

Rangelands are mainly inhabited by native communities whose main livelihood activity is extensive livestock production, which relies mainly on natural vegetation. According to UNCCD report of 2009, rangelands support approximately 2 billion people worldwide (Hutchinson et al. 2011; MEA, 2005), 268 to 325 million pastoralists & agro-pastoralists in Africa (UNCCD, 2009). About 69% of the rangelands in developing countries are used for livestock production (Safriel et al., 2005) and contributes 10% of global meat production (Rodriguez, 2008). Livestock production in rangelands accounts for between 50% and 80% of agricultural gross domestic product (GDP) in developing countries (Neely et al., 2009; Mortimore et al., 2009). In the IGAD region, rangelands are the backbone of livestock industry that provides various economic opportunities along the value chain, therefore contributing significantly to the member countries' national GDPs. Extensive livestock production, characterized by seasonal herd mobility to track pasture and water over expansive rangelands, is the dominant land use in the ASALs of IGAD employing up to 90% of pastoralist populations in the region. About 53% of the regions cattle (51 million), 71% of the goats (58 million) and 68% of the region's sheep (58 million) are found in the ASALs (FAO, 2008). Pastoral production is found at all scales of operations, with most being small herds, providing meat, milk, blood, hides and skins, as well as transport, storage of wealth, means of social security and obligations, security against disasters, obtaining goods and services through barter and generation of cash through local trade or export markets (FAO, 2008). In the Horn of Africa, livestock sector contributes 10% – 50% of the individual countries' agricultural GDP (Behnke et al., 2011; ICPALD, 2013; ICPALD 2017).

Besides livestock production, rangelands are habitats for a diversity of flora and fauna of both socio-cultural, environmental and economic significance. They are a source of various goods such as timber and non-timber products such as fibre, gum and resins, honey, medicinal and food plants, minerals, oil, gas, among others. In addition, the ecosystems provide various services that include water catchment, scenic beauty, as well as habitat for wildlife that form the basis of ecotourism in respective countries. Rangelands also host sacred sites that are valued for spiritual and religious purposes. These sites often conserve islands of indigenous biophysical resources, including important biodiversity, as well as being linked to the cultural identity of certain ethnic groups (Wild and McLeod, 2008, Verchurren et al., 2010). Rangelands therefore have high cultural diversity closely linked to the ecosystem diversity.

Generally, rangelands in Africa are the new frontier for development; as Africa's population grows, rangelands serve as sinks for the immigrant populations from the agriculturally high potential areas. In addition, with infrastructure development and large scale investments, as well as expansion of urbanization, towns located in the rangelands currently act as business hubs that link the frontiers to the rest of the countries.

# 1.5 Managing Rangeland Ecosystems

### 1.5.1 The Socio-Economic-Biophysical Nexus in Rangelands

Rangelands are multifaceted ecosystems of deeply interwoven social-cultural, economic, ecological, geopolitical and climatic interactions (Figure 3). The socio-cultural and ecological factors are intricately linked determining rights and access to and use of rangeland resources. The ecological factors that include range condition and spatial and temporal variations influence resource

use pattern and social relations among resource users in the rangelands. In turn, the socio-ecological components are inherently influenced by economic factors that inform certain decisions regarding access and use of resources.

Climate is however the main driver of ecological condition of the rangelands as it determines seasonal variations in availability, quantity and quality of pasture and water, ultimately affecting socio-cultural and economic variables in the rangelands. Current climatic extremes and shifts in inherent climate variability that are believed to constitute the climate change, are therefore considered a threat to healthy rangelands and secure pastoral and agro-pastoral livelihoods. Given the social, cultural, ecological and economic complexity of the rangelands, any effort towards achieving healthy and sustainable rangeland ecosystems and secure livelihoods, should therefore never address the individual components of the ecosystem in isolation.



Figure 3: Rangelands as Complex Socio-Ecological Systems

#### 1.5.2 Rangeland Management

Rangeland management is the art and science of optimizing production from the rangeland ecosystems. It mainly involves manipulation of vegetation and animals to achieve even and optimal use of range resources. The classic range management is based on four principles namely: the right type of animal; the right number of animals; the right time of grazing; and the right frequency of grazing. However, under the Africa's pastoral context, the focus is not only on manipulation of the environment and grazing animals alone but a host of other factors that allow pastoral communities to harness rangeland resources which are unevenly distributed in space and time. These considerations include mobility that allows tracking of resources across spatial and temporal scales; institutions (customary and statutory) that regulate resource use and ensure peaceful and equitable access to rangeland resources; secure land rights; security and peace; supportive policies and legislations; social, economic and human resources; as well as capacity to cope with drought and adaptation to climate change.

Even though rangelands are ideally managed for multiple uses, extensive livestock production is the dominant economic activity in these areas. Therefore, sustainable pastoral production system would reflect sound rangeland management. In view of this, there is no doubt that rangeland management and pastoral production system development in Africa are inseparable and therefore must be addressed concurrently for sustainable and resilient rangeland environments and livelihoods.

# **1.6 Justification for the Regional Rangeland Management Strategic Framework**

Rangelands in the IGAD region, like elsewhere in the continent, not only have local significance but also ecological and socio-economic importance that transcend national boundaries. Therefore, the challenges facing rangelands in the IGAD region necessitate the need for a strategy that promotes an integrated landscape approach, which brings together multiple stakeholders to create a balance among competing needs and interests towards sustainable rangeland management. In recognition of the shared rangeland resources; interconnectedness of issues and shared responsibilities amongst the countries and communities, there is need to harmonize rangeland management policy and legal frameworks and practices across IGAD region. It is imperative to develop a common approach towards rangeland management for not only trans-boundary rangeland resources but also the entire interconnected rangeland ecosystems in the IGAD countries.

A regional rangeland management strategic framework (RRMSF) is particularly required to address the problem of weak linkages and coordination of policies on rangeland development and actions by stakeholders. Harmonization of the policies and practices is necessary for synergy and specifically for the purpose of minimizing overlaps and enhancing efficiency of development programmes. Ultimately, the Strategic Framework is expected to compliment ongoing efforts to enhance resilience of arid and semi-arid ecosystems and livelihoods by supporting the formulation and implementation of policies aimed at sustainable management of rangeland ecosystems, which area resource base for millions of people living within and outside the drylands of IGAD region.

# 1.7 The Objectives of the Strategic Framework

The broad objective of the Strategic Framework is to achieve sustainable rangeland management by addressing challenges facing rangelands in IGAD region through harmonization of policies and interventions among Member States of IGAD region.

#### Specifically, RRMSF seeks to:

- Offer a basis for IGAD Member States to formulate and operationalize sound rangeland management policies and actions as pre-requisites for sustainable rangeland development;
- Promote consensus for shared principles as the basis for securing land rights, access to rangeland resources by all users and enhancing rangeland and livestock productivity for sustainable livelihoods;
- Suggest actions aimed at achieving healthy and productive rangelands, as well as equitable access to range resources that Member States can adopt in keeping with their respective national rangeland contexts.

# 1.8 Methodological Approach

A combination of methods were employed in collecting pertinent information, including literature review and consultations with a wide range of stakeholders on rangeland management and pastoral issues in selected IGAD member countries namely; Ethiopia, Kenya, Sudan and Uganda. The stakeholders included pastoralist and agro-pastoralist communities, national and subnational governments, researchers, academia and development agencies. Key informant interviews, direct observations and consultative meetings were used to gather relevant information on key challenges, existing interventions, opportunities and priority rangeland management actions in the respective Member States. Among the reviewed literature included continental, regional and national policies and proclamations related to rangeland, and their limitations and implications for sustainable rangeland management. The review also included various reports and scientific publications on challenges facing rangelands, rangeland condition and trends, existing rangeland management interventions and recommended actions to achieve sustainable rangeland management in the region. The priority interventions comprising strategic objectives and corresponding activities were developed based on the situation analysis drawn from both literature and consultations with various stakeholders in the region. Finally, the draft RRMSF was subjected to a validation exercise in a workshop attended by participants from the Member States (MS), among them Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan and Uganda.

# SITUATION ANALYSIS

# 2.1 Challenges and Threats to Sustainable Rangeland Management in IGAD Region

Rangelands in IGAD region are facing a myriad of challenges and change dynamics that threaten range productivity, livestock production, ecosystem integrity, and therefore livelihoods of pastoral and agro-pastoral communities inhabiting these areas. The main constraint to extensive livestock production, which is the main livelihood activity in these areas, revolves around diminishing productivity of the rangelands and access to pasture and water driven by a number of factors that work in a concerted way to undermine rangeland health and pastoral livelihoods. Figure 4 summarizes the key challenges facing rangeland management in IGAD region and their consequences.



Figure 4: Cause-Effect Framework of Challenges in the Rangelands of IGAD Region

The following section briefly describes some of the key challenges in the rangelands of IGAD region identified from literature reviews and consultations with various stakeholders in the region.

# 2.1.1 Inadequate Policy, Legal, Institutional and Organizational Framework

Despite some effort by IGAD Member States in developing policies related to rangeland management, there are some fundamental gaps in policies and institutional framework for rangeland management in the region (ICPALD, 2017). Whereas previous policies have been anchored on misconceptions about the drylands and pastoralism, a general paradigm shift informed by a better understanding of the ASALs and opportunities for enhancing sustainable rangeland management in Africa through policy and institutional frameworks continue to emerge. For example, the on-going progressive regional integration push for mobility of pastoralists across borders has been recognized as one of the approaches of managing transboundary rangelands resources. However, in most Member States of IGAD region, there are no clear government Ministries or Departments responsible for solely rangeland management, and the mandate is normally scattered in various state departments dealing with livestock production, agriculture, natural resource, with the consequence that little attention is given to rangeland issues with regard to staffing, budget allocation and appropriate policies.

#### 2.1.2 Rangeland Degradation

Land degradation in the context of drylands is: "a reduction or loss, in arid and semi-arid and dry sub-humid areas, of the biological or economic productivity and complexity of rainfed cropland, irrigated cropland, or range, pasture, forest and woodlands resulting from land uses or from a process or combination of processes, including processes arising from human activities and habitation patterns" (UNCCD, 1994). Of key interest in the rangeland ecosystems is the biological degradation that normally manifests in loss of vegetation cover; increase in undesirable plant species; bush encroachment and soil erosion of various types associated with intensification of use.

Majority of the drylands in Africa suffer various forms of environmental degradation and at varying degrees, including, soil erosion, destruction of wildlife habitats, loss of biodiversity, salinization of irrigated areas and soil compaction (AU-IBAR, 2012). Evidence from Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) shows that Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) accounts for 17% of the global 3.623 billion ha that experienced land degradation between 1982 and 2006, with the Eastern, Central and Southern African sub-regions experiencing the most-wide spread degradation (Le et al., 2014). Probably rangeland degradation in IGAD region is mainly associated with land tenure change that is accompanied by conversion of rangelands to other uses such as settlements and crop cultivation. Such land use changes alter range utilization patterns and restrict herd mobility thereby leading to range degradation (Maitima et al., 2009; Kimiti et al., 2018). Rangeland degradation therefore undermines

the ability of dryland communities to cope with the inherent challenges of a complex and dynamic system. Figure 5 shows land degradation pattern in IGAD region.



Figure 5: Land Degradation Index Map for IGAD (May –Sept, 2010)

In addition to loss of rangeland cover, undesirable plant species that do not originally belong to the rangelands tend to invade and increase with pressure of use, as well as land use changes, competitive ecological advantages, and climate change (Pasiecznik et al., 2001). One such invasive species, which is now common in the IGAD region is *Prosopis juliflora*, an evergreen tree native to South America, Central America and the Caribbean. Having been introduced in Africa in the 1820s (Kyuma, 2016), the earliest introductions being in Senegal, South Africa and Egypt in the early to late 19th century (Pasiecznick et al, 2001), *P. juliflora* has since spread and invaded other areas forming dense, impenetrable thickets and is associated with unfavorable impacts on human economic activities (Mwangi and Swallow, 2005). Prosopis juliflora invasion has been reported as a challenge in Ethiopia (FDRE, 2014); Kenya and Sudan (Mwangi and Swallow, 2005); and Somalia (Michele, 2016). Other invasive and weedy species reported in the region include Acacia reficiens, Parthenium hysterophorus, Ipomea kituensis, Opuntia ficus-indica (Kenya); Calotropis procera and Latana camara, Solanum incanum; Senna spectabilis; Phytolaca species; Mimosa species; Cymbopogon species (Uganda); Calotropis procera; Ipomoea carnea; Zornia glochioliata; Ischaemum brackyatherum, Ocimum basilicum;Acacia nubica and Sorghum purpureo-sericum (Sudan).

The downward trends in rangeland condition in the region is also associated with declines in water quantity and quality, as well as aquatic and riparian habitats. The processes of rangeland degradation are exacerbated by increasing climate variability and frequent droughts, which lead to pasture scarcity and consequently loss of livestock productivity. The depletion of various water resources including the underground sources, rivers and water pans is expected to worsen with climate change and increasing periods of drought in the rangelands of IGAD region.

#### 2.1.3 Weak Governance of Rangeland Resources

A key feature of the drylands in Africa is the strong social organization and customary institutions that have helped pastoralists to adapt to uncertainty and due to their flexibility have contributed to enhanced resilience in rangeland ecosystems (AU-IBAR, 2012; ICPALD, 2017). The traditional institutions have been very instrumental in governing rights to water, land and other rangeland resources, as well as in conflict resolution. Whereas the formal and informal (traditional) institutions in Africa's ASALs have coexisted and evolved over time, the dual application of the two especially where they are not integrated, poses serious challenges to effective and sustainable governance of rangeland resources. In addition, control of access and management of rangeland resources under traditional institutions has over time been weakened mainly by unsupportive policies and a tendency for state-centric natural resource management common in Africa. Like in other parts of Africa, IGAD region is facing a breakdown of the traditional institutions that govern access to grazing lands (AU-IBAR, 2012), leading to an 'open access' scenario characterized by lack of corresponding regulatory mechanisms to control use of resources.

# 2.1.4 Insecure Land Tenure, Land Use Change and Rangeland Fragmentation

Land tenure determines the rights of use and access to land and its resources and therefore plays an important role in determining the land management options available to users. Property rights regime in the rangelands of IGAD exhibit multiple and overlapping rights that are authorized by multiple institutions across different jurisdiction (ICPALD, 2017). Even with the existence of statutory laws, the natural resources in the rangelands are traditionally owned, managed and used collectively by different users often under different tenure arrangements (IIED and SOS, 2010). Changes in land tenure may therefore alter the behaviour of individuals and local communities leading to land degradation, for example, overgrazing following the settlement of nomadic pastoralists. Most of IGAD Member Countries do not have clear land policies, and where they exist there are often difficulties in implementing them given the complexities in harmonizing them with the existing customary land laws. Such confusion in dual application of land laws is evident in Ethiopia's Regional States (ICPALD, 2017). In addition, where land policies already confer ownership to communities as in the case of Kenya through the community land Act (GoK, 2016b), there are still lack of subsidiary legislation to enable implementation of the laws.

Rangelands throughout sub-Saharan Africa are currently undergoing major pressures including land fragmentation arising from land tenure and land use change driven by land demand for agriculture, as well as conservation. In East Africa, for example, the general trend has been towards land privatization, and fragmentation of former communal holdings (Olson, 2006). The most common type of fragmentation in the rangelands of IGAD region is the conversion of rangeland into large scale agriculture, residential and urban development (Flintan, 2011). Rangeland fragmentation in the Horn of Africa has led to reduction of access by herders to vital grazing and water resources (Hobbs et al., 2008), competition over resources between herders and wildlife, sedentariness of pastoralists and increases in the intensity of resource use in areas where water and grazing remain accessible (Olson, 2006).

#### 2.1.5 Restricted Transboundary and Inter-Community Resource Sharing

Given the spatial and temporal distribution of rangeland resources, communities living in the arid and semi-arid rangelands have developed mobility as a coping strategy for harnessing these resources when and where they exist. To ensure peaceful co-existence with neighbors, pastoralist communities traditionally negotiate access to resources outside their territories. Such resource sharing and herd mobility agreements were traditionally sanctioned through customary institutions, which also served as conflict resolution structures. However, most of the customary institutions have been rendered ineffective, more so, resource sharing arrangements made under such institutions can only be sustainable if integrated with statutory protocols, especially in the case of transboundary movements.

There has been relatively good progress in formulation of policies and agreements concerning transboundary movements in Africa following the Economic Community of West Africa States (ECOWAS) legislative framework for cross border mobility, which provides for International Transhumance Certificate to be used by pastoralists in the 15 Member States (IIED and SOS, 2010). In 2009, Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) region drafted policy framework for food security in pastoral areas, which seeks to harmonize national policies to support pastoral movement and efficient use

of transnational rangeland ecosystem and promote livestock trade (African Union, 2010). In addition, the East African Community (EAC) developed the EAC Transboundary Ecosystems Management Bill, to provide for the management and regulation of Transboundary Ecosystems in the EAC (EAC, 2010), which is expected to enhance management of rangelands particularly with regard to wildlife, pastoralism and water resources. At regional scale, IGAD region has developed a Protocol on Transhumance that will ensure that animals move across the region legally and safely, as well as give pastoralists rights and obligations through the engagement of local leaders and security agencies across the region. Similarly, the African Union developed a Pan African pastoral policy framework which aims to secure, protect and improve the lives, livelihoods and rights of African pastoralists (African Union, 2010).

Despite the efforts in formalization of herd movements across borders, including bilateral and multilateral memoranda of understanding among countries with shared resources in IGAD region, most of the agreements are yet to be operationalized. The consequences of the situation include conflict over resources and rise in transboundary livestock diseases. In addition, failure to recognize and allow the customary institutions to play their role in mediating among pastoral communities has also led to increasing cross-border and inter-communities' conflicts currently witnessed in the region. Such conflicts normally lead to confinement of livestock herds to smaller areas thereby causing rangeland degradation.

# 2.1.6 Inadequate Research, Knowledge Management, Extension and Human Resource Capacity

Limited research funding for rangeland management is evident in IGAD region. In Ethiopia, for example, major fund for agricultural and rangeland research comes from government sources (Abate et al., 2014). However, the intensity of the country's agricultural research investment effort remains far below the Sub-Saharan African average (Beintema and Menelik Solomon, 2003) and is one of the lowest in Africa standing just at 0.19% in 2011. This could partly be due to limited resources that have to be shared among competing needs. This may also still be largely due to underestimation of value of rangelands in the region. Generally, there is scarcity of data on pastoralism and rangelands as indicated in the report "A case of benign neglect: Knowledge gaps about sustainability in pastoralism and rangelands" by Johnsen et al. (2019). Even in some IGAD Member States where considerable research studies on rangeland management have been done, the application of their findings is rather low (Personal communication, Rangeland Scientist, Ethiopia). This could be partly attributed to the approach but largely on the lack of involvement of the target users and beneficiaries. Another challenge is lack of qualified rangeland experts to implement the policies on rangeland management, as well as lack of lower cadre personnel to provide the extension services. Only three countries (Kenya, Ethiopia and Sudan) in IGAD region have Universities and middle level institutions offering courses related to rangeland management.

#### 2.1.7 Inadequate Investment in Sustainable Rangeland Management

There is generally low investment in rangeland management compared to other sectors such as agriculture. This has been mainly attributed to the traditional misconceptions about rangelands and pastoral productions system, as well as lack of empirical evidence on the value of rangeland ecosystems and pastoral production system. Rangelands have been persistently undervalued as information on their comparative and competitive advantages over alternative land uses is inadequate (Gituku et al., 2015). This has resulted in the unfair distribution of resources to rangeland areas, which has left them lagging behind in terms of development (Iruata et al., 2015). This lack of understanding of rangelands' contribution to the region's national economies is partly to blame for the unsupportive policies, little attention and limited investment that rangeland management receives in national budgets (Davies 2007). Whereas the government and policy makers have always battled with insufficient data and information to make informed decisions, especially when it comes to development for rangelands, in instances where such data exist, they are often underestimated due to failure to capture the enormous nontangible benefits of rangelands. The consequence is the lack of interest and incentive to allocate requisite budget and develop appropriate policies for rangeland development. The value of rangelands and pastoral ecosystems therefore continue to remain largely invisible (Kratli, 2014) and less attractive for governments and private investors.

#### 2.1.8 Recurrent Drought and Climate Change

The impacts of drought in the rangelands is normally manifested in depletion of water points and reduced forage and livestock production, leading to food insecurity. Livestock and human deaths are common during droughts. Major droughts in the region occur about every ten years and moderate droughts every three or four years (GoK, 2013). Figure 6 presents long term drought occurrence in IGAD region.



Figure 6: Long-term Aveage Drought Episodes in IGAD Region

Drought has adverse impacts on ecosystems and biodiversity as it lowers the vigor and productivity of vegetation and may lead to the decline or loss of certain species, or invasion by less desirable but more drought-tolerant species (GoK, 2016a). Climate change is expected to exacerbate the sustainability of most production systems, threaten long-term agricultural productivity and food security (FAO, 2012).

The most devastating impact of drought and climate change in the rangelands is its role in amplifying range degradation, leading to pasture scarcity and the subsequent reduction of livestock productivity due to loss of condition and death.

### A REVIEW OF RANGELAND MANAGEMENT RELATED POLICIES, STRATEGIES, AGREEMENTS AND INITIATIVES

Most governments in the Horn of Africa recently started investing moderately in drylands with particular emphasis on developing pastoralism and improving livestock production, but in most cases ignored sustainable management of the rangeland resource base. Much of the failure is attributed to the poor understanding of the socio-ecological and climatic complexity of rangeland ecosystems, coupled with inadequate institutional support and biased development agenda. The situation is often made worse in the absence of requisite policies and legislation on which to anchor development interventions aimed at achieving sustainable rangeland management. This section gives an overview of some of the global, continental and regional rangeland management related policies, strategies, resolutions and initiatives.

### 3.1 Global Agenda, Resolutions and Initiatives

Globally, the United Nations Summit of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development underscored the fact that socio-economic development will depend on the sustainable management of our planet's natural resources (UN, 2015). The report of the summit underscores the UN's determination to conserve and sustainably use natural resources such as freshwater, forests and drylands and to protect biodiversity, ecosystems and wildlife, tackle water scarcity, strengthen cooperation against desertification, reduce land degradation and drought, and to promote resilience and disaster risk reduction. In this regard, it is noteworthy mentioning some of the UN-Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) relevant to sustainable rangeland management, such as:

- **SDG 1:** End poverty in all its forms everywhere;
- **SDG 2:** End hunger, achieve food security and improve nutrition and promote sustainable Agriculture;
- **SDG 6:** Ensure availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all;
- **SDG 13:** Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts;
- **SDG 15:** Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, halt and reverse land degradation and halt biodiversity loss;
- **SDG 16:** Promote just, peaceful and inclusive societies.

At the Convention on Biological Diversity COP 13 in Cancun in December, 2016, 28 government and 48 civil society organizations signed a strong statement that recognizes the value of rangelands, grasslands and pastoralism for

biodiversity. Since 2010, at least 10 such declarations and statements have emanated from gatherings of pastoralists around the world. Pastoralist organisations and pastoralist representatives continue to take center stage. For example, the World Alliance for Mobile Indigenous Peoples, campaigns to have a more visible profile and platform to press for pastoralists' rights to development, exchange best practices and solutions to problems, and revive and reinforce cultural traditions and diversity.

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) has developed a Technical Guide on "Improving governance of pastoral lands" (Davies et al., 2016). Its Pastoralist Knowledge Hub advocates for sustainable pastoralism, pastoralist-friendly policies and a strong pastoral civil society. The initiative supports the sustainable management of rangelands: "Improved rangelands and pastoral systems are a critical step towards food security, not only for pastoralists, but also to meet the growing world demand for healthy livestock products". Likewise, the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) urges "development and implementation of national and regional policies, programmes and measures to prevent, control and reverse land degradation and mitigate the effects of drought through scientific and technological excellence, raising public awareness, thereby contributing to poverty reduction" (UNCCD, 2008).

Since 2016, the United Nations' attempt to designate International Year of Rangelands and Pastoralists (IYRP) has gained a lot of support from various organizations. This led to the formalization of an IYRP Steering Committee that has spearheaded and actively engaged stakeholders and governments globally through meetings and events. During the United Nations Environment Assembly conference held in Nairobi in May of 2016 (UNEA-2) (UNEP, 2016), a resolution on "combating desertification, land degradation and drought and promoting sustainable pastoralism and rangelands" was passed by 158 countries, calling for, among others, raising global awareness. Another resolution approved at the Assembly highlighted the scarcity of information on pastoralism and rangelands and the need to conduct scientific research, starting with a gap analysis of existing data and information on rangelands and pastoralism.

During the fourth session of the UN Environment Assembly (UNEA-4) held in Nairobi from 11 - 15 March, 2019, a resolution on innovations in sustainable rangelands and pastoralism submitted by the African Group was endorsed by members of the Assembly. The resolution recognizes the critical role that sustainable rangelands and pastoralism play in addressing environmental challenges, maintaining biodiversity and ecosystem services, and other natural resources, and contributing to food security, sustainable tourism and socio-economic development, particularly to indigenous peoples, and local communities. The resolution further urges Member States and invites all relevant stakeholders to raise awareness and promote innovative solutions for sustainable management of rangelands and pastoralism taking into account traditional knowledge on sectors such as agro-pastoralism, livestock, agroforestry, agriculture, renewable energy and ecotourism.<sup>2</sup>

# **3.2 Continental Policies**

In Africa, only a few national governments and external actors recognize the importance of rangelands and pastoral livelihoods, or support them with appropriate policies and interventions. Pastoral communities living in the rangelands therefore rely heavily on customary or informal rights, which have become increasingly weak and ineffective. This situation, coupled with the absence of explicit attention to secure pastoral land rights threatens sustainable rangeland management in the continent. Over the recent decades, pastoralists across Africa have been calling for a continent-wide policy framework that can secure and protect the rangelands and pastoral livelihoods across Africa. The expectation is that such policy would move pastoral development efforts beyond the traditional single sector approaches, and embrace innovative ideas around sustainable rangeland management, effective governance and integration of livelihoods with expanding market opportunities. Some of the policies at continental level include the following:

- i. The African Union (AU) Policy Framework (AU, 2010a) for Pastoralism underlines principles that are of great significance for rangeland management. These include freedom of mobility, inclusion of pastoralists in the process of policy and legislative reforms, recognition of the economic contribution of pastoralists to development and acknowledgment of the importance of indigenous institutions to land management. In addition, the AU's framework emphasizes that rangeland policies and land use plans should consider:
- Local people's participation in planning and implementation involving all beneficiary stakeholders who have recognized status and rights in rangeland and economic activities;
- Community-driven initiatives for training in formal and technical skills to advance rangeland development and conservation;
- Gender concerns for equitable access to land by men and women to motivate sound rangeland production systems and to promote people's welfare;
- Needs to be cognizant of and protect the knowledge and culture of the indigenous people to reverse land degradation;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> (http://www.unep.org/about/sgb/cpr\_portal/Portals/50152/2-24/K1607149\_UNEPEA2\_RES24E.pdf); https://globalrangelands.org/international-year-rangelands-and-pastoralists-initiative)

 Effective regulations for land use and administration that need to be in place to improve the livelihoods of pastoralists and agro-pastoralists and to strengthen their institutions through motivation, support and investment in physical and social infrastructure to enhance incomes and contribute to the economy; and land as the central factor in leveraging other productive sectors.

The policy aims to promote a multi-sectoral and inter-disciplinary approach to achieve sustained productive rangeland management in harmony with other policies that address issues pertinent to rangelands development and conservation. It focusses on conflicts management and promotion of shared co-existence between people, flora and fauna, taking into account transparency and accountability with all responsible stakeholders.

**ii.** The AU Land Policy Framework (AU, 2010b) was developed by the African Union for the purpose of ensuring appropriate strategies and effective implementation of land policies. The Framework was approved and adopted in 2009 and aims to strengthen land rights, enhance productivity and secure livelihoods. It recognizes the central role that land plays in the development process and makes recommendations to national governments to help create and implement improved land policies and land legislation that will enhance tenure security for women and men. It is also designed to engage development partners and donors as they mobilize resources and build capacity to support land policy development and implementation. The policy framework encourages African governments to address concerns related to the status of land administration systems, land rights delivery systems and land governance structures and institutions. It also urges governments to ensure adequate budgets to support the development or review of the needed land policies and implementation efforts.

The AU framework and guidelines on land policy in Africa highlights the challenges and threats to rangelands arising from agricultural expansion, degradation and general marginalization and specifically emphasizes the need to protect grasslands and pastoral ecosystems. It recognizes the critical role of rangelands in livestock production and wildlife and biodiversity conservation and therefore calls for sustainable rangeland practices, as well as policies that ensure tenure security, participation of pastoral communities in rangeland management, guarantee equal access to pastoral resources for women, establish processes for the resolution of cross-boundary disputes and improve technologies of resource use.

# 3.3 Regional Strategies

Regionally, the IGAD Environment and Natural Resources Strategy (IGAD, 2007)

has the four strategic objectives that are relevant and supportive of rangeland management in the region, namely:

- i. To improve the framework for environmental and natural resources governance in the IGAD region;
- ii. To develop information required for sound environmental and natural resources management and make it readily available;
- iii. To enhance capacity of Member States for improved environmental and natural resources management and;
- iv. To enhance the capability for environmental and natural resources research and development in the region.

The IGAD constitutive instrument article 13 outlines areas of cooperation, proposes to strengthen land resource monitoring systems and harmonize existing national plans of action for marginal lands and drylands management.

# **3.4 National Policies and Strategies**

Whereas some of the IGAD MS may not have specific policies for rangeland management, most of them have developed or are in the process of developing related policies that have implications for rangeland management. Table 2 presents some of the rangeland management related policies and strategies in various IGAD MS.

Table 2: Some Rangeland Related National Policies and Strategies in	n IGAD
Region	

Country	Policy/Strategy/Plan Status	
Uganda	Rangeland Management and Pastoralism Policy, 2017 Draft, under review	
Sudan	The Rangelands and Forages Resources Development (Rationalization Act, 2015)	Operational
	Pastoral Strategic Action Plan for Semi Desert and Low Rainfall Savanna Sudan (2014-2024).	Operational
	National Livestock Development Policy	Operational
South Sudan	Ministry of Animal Resources and Fisheries (MARF), Policy Framework and Strategic Plans (2012-2016)	Operational
	Pastoralist Development Policy and Strategy, 2018	Draft
Ethiopia	National Strategy on Prosopis Juliflora Management, 2017	Finalized
	The Federal Rural Land Administration and Use Proclamation No. 456/2005	Operational

Country	Policy/Strategy/Plan Statu	
Kenya	Rangelands and Pastoralism Strategic Plan, 2018-2028	Draft, under review
	Vision 2030 Development Strategy for Northern Kenya and other Arid Lands, 2012	Operational
	National Policy for the Sustainable Development of Arid and Semi-Arid Lands, 2017	Operational
	Agricultural Sector Transformation and Growth Strategy (ASTGS), 2019-2029	Operational

Despite current efforts to formulate both regional and national policies, there is little coordination and synergy among countries especially those with shared resources across their borders. This calls for the harmonization of the existing policies and practices to form the basis for collective action to ensure effective and sustainable management of rangeland resources that transcend national boundaries in the region.

The section below presents the context of the challenges in the rangelands of IGAD region, proposed strategic objectives, interventions and expected outputs and outcomes.

# STRATEGIC ACTIONS FOR ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE RANGELAND MANAGEMENT

# 4.1 Overall Goal

The broad objective of the Strategic Framework is to achieve sustainable rangeland management by addressing challenges facing rangelands in the IGAD region through harmonization of policies and practices among Member States, as a way of complementing the efforts of the IGAD Member States in sustainable rangeland management.

This is expected to be achieved by promoting:

- i. Compatible sustainable rangeland management through supportive policies and governance systems;
- ii. Provision of adequate resources to support sustainable rangeland management, reliable, timely and readily available data and information;
- iii. Capacity building for organizations working on rangeland and natural resources management (extension, research and policy); and
- iv. Research on and adoption of new, appropriate and affordable technologies.

Figure 7 presents the proposed strategic objectives aimed towards the desired goal of achieving sustainable rangeland management in the region.



Figure 7: Objective Tree for Achieving Sustainable Rangelands

This section presents the impact pathways for priority interventions comprising 10 Strategic Objectives with clusters of activities drawn from literature review and consultations with experts, decision makers, development agencies and communities in IGAD MS. Also presented are the various input/resources required to achieve the objectives, outputs and outcomes, as well as their indicators all aimed at ultimately achieving **"sustainable and equitable access to rangelands resources"** in IGAD region (Tables 3-13).

#### 4.2 Strategic Objective 1: Improve Policy and Legal Frameworks for Rangeland Management

#### 4.2.1 The Challenge: Inadequate Policy and Legal Framework

Despite the existence of various policies and strategies aimed at supporting sustainable rangelands management at continental level, they have not been fully downscaled to national and sub-national levels. In addition, several attempts by governments in IGAD region to address problems in the rangelands through formulation of policies, legislations and interventions face fundamental gaps in contextualizing policies and legislations to the rangelands and pastoral production systems. Literature review and consultations with stakeholders in IGAD Member Countries reveal that most countries in the region lack requisite policy and legal framework required to achieve sustainable rangeland management. A number of policies related to rangeland management have been in the draft form for a long time, examples being the cases of Uganda and Ethiopia, whilst where they have been finalized, such as in the case of Kenya (Sessional Paper No. 8 of 2012 on the National Policy for the Sustainable Development of Northern Kenya and other Arid Lands (GoK, 2012); and National Policy for the Sustainable Development of Arid and Semi-Arid Lands (GoK, 2017) and in the case of Sudan (Rangelands and Forages Resources Development (Rationalization Act, 2015 (GoS, 2015) , their implementation is rather weak.

# Table 3: Action Plan for Improving Policy and Legal Framework forRangeland Management

Goal	To establish supportive policy and legal environment for rangeland management.		
Interventions	<ul> <li>Harmonization and implementation of existing policies through development of strategies and action plans;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Formulation of national rangeland management policies and strategies where they do not exist;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Advocacy and lobbying for domestication of regional and continental policies and rolling out of national and sub- national policies;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Creation of rangeland management coordination unit at IGAD and development of rangeland management implementation framework for the IGAD region;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Re-structuring and building institutional and organizational capacity for rangeland management by creating relevant departments responsible for such management and requisite staff establishments to enable delivery of their mandate.</li> </ul>		
Input/Resources	<ul> <li>Funds to facilitate development of policies, advocacy and lobbying of governments and establishment of rangeland management coordination unit at IGAD;</li> </ul>		
	• Policy and advocacy experts to facilitate the activities;		
	Advocacy toolkit for governments;		
	Political goodwill.		

Goal	To establish supportive policy and legal environment for rangeland management.		
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>New and revised national rangeland management policies, strategies and action plans;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Regional and continental policies downscaled and implemented at national and sub-national levels;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Active parliamentary pastoralist groups and fora;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Rangeland management coordination unit at IGAD established;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Streamlined and strong government departments and agencies with skilled rangeland management staff.</li> </ul>		
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of policies, strategies, plans and programmes developed by Member Countries;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of Member Countries which have domesticated regional and continental policies;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of active pastoralist parliamentary groups and fora across the IGAD region;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of countries with specific government departments with the mandate of rangeland management;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of rangeland management experts in the government Departments;</li> </ul>		
	Operational IGAD Rangeland management coordination unit.		
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Increased resource allocation and commitments to support sustainable rangeland management and equitable governance;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Effective coordination, implementation and monitoring of rangeland management activities;</li> </ul>		
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>The amount of budgetary allocation to rangeland management projects by IGAD MS;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of implemented rangeland management projects within IGAD MS;</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Number of IGAD Member States which have adopted supportive policles, strategies and regulations for sustainable rangeland management and governace.</li> </ul>		

## 4.3. Strategic Objective 2: Enhance Organizational Capacity

#### 4.3.1 The Challenge: Low Organizational Capacity

There exist low organizational capacity in IGAD Member States, especially within the specific government ministries and agencies charged with the

responsibility of overseeing and implementing development programmes in the rangelands. Most of the government departments and agencies have poor basic infrastructure such as office space, information and communication technology (ICT) equipments, as well as skilled personnel in rangeland management. There is normally inadequate funds and poor staffing at all levels as there are only a few staff with professional qualifications in rangeland management, which undermines implementation of rangeland management interventions in most IGAD Member States. Despite the important role played by traditional institutions in rangeland management, they are rarely recognized by goverments and therefore in the absence of statutory institutions, there is little regulation of access and use of rangeland resources at local level. Additionally, uncoordinated sectoral policies in most IGAD Member States often lead to segmented and poor implementation of development interventions, as well as inconsistent and misplaced rangeland management mandates. For example, in several MS, rangeland management mandate is often under the departments of livestock production, usually in the Ministries dealing with Agriculture, whereas livestock production is just one component of rangeland management. This normally results in inadequate consideration of rangeland issues with regard to staffing, budget allocation and requisite policies.

Goal	To establish and/or strengthen supportive institutional and organizational framework for rangeland management.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Strengthen capacity of government Departments and agencies in charge of rangeland management by improving infrastructure such as buildings, equipments and staffing;</li> </ul>
	• Establish specific Departments and agencies for rangeland management both at national and sub-national levels to ensure rangeland issues are given the requisite attention;
	<ul> <li>Build capacity of personnel and ensure staffing of relevant government departments with personnel skilled in rangeland management to ensure they deliver on their responsibilities;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Train lower cadre staff to provide extension services on rangeland management;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Establish a unit at IGAD to coordinate rangeland management in the region;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Recognize and facilitate traditional institutions of rangeland management to discharge their roles;</li> </ul>
	• Ensure there is adequate budgetary allocation to enable implementation of rangeland management interventions.

Table 4: Action Plan for Improving Institutional and Organizational Capacityfor Rangeland Management

Goal	To establish and/or strengthen supportive institutional and organizational framework for rangeland management.
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Funds to support establishment of institutions, infrastructure, train and deploy skilled rangeland management personnel;</li> <li>Supportive policies, strategies and plans;</li> <li>Rangeland management experts to support capacity building.</li> </ul>
Expected Out- puts	<ul> <li>Strengthened institutional and organizational capacity in rangeland management;</li> <li>Well-equipped and staffed government departments and agencies;</li> <li>Skilled rangeland management staff;</li> <li>Increased budgetary allocation for rangeland management.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of new and streamlined government Departments;</li> <li>Number of staff with rangeland management skills;</li> <li>Value/number of equipment and rangeland management staff employed;</li> <li>Amount of budget allocated to rangeland management.</li> </ul>
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>More attention given to rangeland management issues;</li> <li>Increased rate of success of rangeland management intervention projects;</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of institutions and organizations involved in rangeland management;</li> <li>Number of successfully executed rangeland management projects.</li> </ul>

# 4.4 Strategic Objective 3: Improve Rangeland Health and Productivity

# 4.4.1 The Challenge: Soil Erosion, Declining Vegetation Cover, Forage Production and Plant Diversity

The deterioration of rangeland condition and trend in the IGAD region is mainly manifested in the biological indicators that include loss of vegetation cover and biodiversity; soil erosion; and depletion of water sources. These are mostly attributed to the poor grazing management practices (traditional and modern), restriction of herd mobility and therefore increased pressure on available grazing lands. In addition, there occur within some localities injudicious resource uses such as charcoal burning and wide-scale fuel wood extraction, which further exacerbate the downward trend in rangelands condition in the region. Although overgrazing is normally blamed for the observed rangeland degradation, the root causes are land tenure and land use changes that have altered the rangeland use pattern and made it difficult to practice mobility as a way of spreading pressure over the landscapes.

# Table 5: Action Plan for Restoration of Rangeland Cover, Plant Diversity and Productivity

Goal	To restore range vegetation cover, diveristy and productivity.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Range reseeding through silvopastoral systems involving indigenous grasses, multipurpose trees and shrubs to restore diversity, stabilize the soil, improve rangeland condition and pasture quality;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Establishment of seed system through multiplication and bulking of indigenous grass and tree seeds for rehabilitation of rangelands;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Participatory grazing management and rangelands management planning for restoration and rehabilitation of degraded rangelands;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Integrating Sustainable Land Management (SLM) (through soil and water conservation techniques, enclosures);</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Rehabilitation of rangelands along stock/migration routes and provision of services along the routes e.g. veterinary services, water points and supplementary fodder;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Promotion of fodder production and bulking modelled around the traditional pasture reservation and where possible both rainfed or irrigated commercial production;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Support private sector participation in commercialised fodder production;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Support on-station and on-farm research on fodder production and conservation;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Promote investment in appropriate and participatory water resources development and management in the rangelands.</li> </ul>
Input/	Supportive government policies;
Resources	<ul> <li>Certified seeds for range grass and tree species;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Skilled human resource in rangeland management, hydrology and water resource management;</li> </ul>
	• Funds to facilitate community mobilization and implementation of rehabilitation activities;
	<ul> <li>Empirical evidence from research to guide rangeland health improvement;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Maps of range condition and trends.</li> </ul>

Goal	To restore range vegetation cover, diveristy and productivity.
Expected	Increased rangeland plant cover, diversity and productivity;
Outputs	Reduced soil erosion;
	Increased SLM practices;
	<ul> <li>Increased grass seeds and fodder production, increased fodder storage and pasture reserves.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	Area of rangelands considered to be healthy;
	<ul> <li>Number of SLM practices in member countries;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Amount/tons of fodder and grass seed produced.</li> </ul>
Expected Outcomes	Improved range health and condition;
	<ul> <li>Increased availability and improved quality of pasture.</li> </ul>
Outcome	Above ground forage biomass per hectare of land;
Indicators	Number of months of pasture and water availability.

# 4.4.2 The Challenge: Spread of Invasive and Weedy Plant Species in the Rangelands

Besides soil erosion and vegetation loss, deterioration of rangelands health in the IGAD region is further caused by bush encroachment and invasion by less desirable plant species that have increasingly altered rangeland ecosystems' structure and function in areas where they exist. The major invasive and increased plant species that indicate downward trend in rangeland health in the region include: *Prosopis juliflora* (in Kenya, Ethiopia, Somalia, Djibouti and Sudan), *Parthenium hysterophorus* (in Kenya and Ethiopia), *Opuntia ficusindica* (in Kenya and Uganda), *Ipomea kituensis* (in Kenya and Sudan) and *Acacia reficiens* (in northern Kenya); *Calotropis procera* (in Ethiopia and Sudan); *Lantana camara* (in Ethiopia and Uganda). These species invade critical grazing areas often replacing desirable forage species of high grazing value. They modify ecological structure and functioning of rangeland ecosystems therefore compromising their potential to support extensive livestock production, as well as altering the habitats thereby posing a challenge to wildlife conservation.

Table 6: Action Plan for Management of Invasive and Weedy Plants Species

Goal	To control and manage invasive plant species to ensure restoration of rangeland ecosystem structure and functioning.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Rangelands characterization and mapping spatial coverage of invasive species and their impacts;</li> <li>Promoting research to guide invasive species management and</li> </ul>
	use (alternative uses and management e.g comparative studies on control by utilization versus eradication, as well as the economics of invasives to inform management interventions);
	<ul> <li>Form national and regional task force and action plan for control of invasive plant species;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Scale out good practices in invasive species control and management by making use of lessons from previous and on- going projects in the region.</li> </ul>
Input/ Resources	• Supportive government policies, strategies and plans on control and management of invasive species;
	<ul> <li>Financial resources to support implementation of activities (interventions and research);</li> </ul>
	Skilled human resource in invasive species management;
	Invasive species management guidelines/manuals.
Expected out- puts	<ul><li>Increased desirable forage cover and diversity;</li><li>Increased forage production.</li></ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Above ground forage biomass per hectare of land;</li> <li>Extent of cover and diveristy of desirable range species.</li> </ul>
Expected Outcomes	Improved range health;
	<ul><li>Increased availability and quality of pasture;</li><li>Increased range and livestock productivity.</li></ul>
Outcome Indicators	Acreage of reclaimed/restored rangelands.

# 4.5 Strategic Objective 4: Strengthen Governance of Rangeland Resources

#### 4.5. 1 The Challenge: Weak Statutory and Customary Institutions

Customary institutions of natural resource governance have traditionally been critical in regulating access to and use of grazing and water resources in the rangelands. Even where the formal institutions exist, they have coexisted and evolved over time, with the traditional institutions always taking precedence especially where application of statutory laws is weak as is often the case in the vast rangelands of IGAD region. However, the traditional institutions and practices that hitherto ensured sustainable management of rangeland resources have been weakened over time and are no longer effective in their roles. This has been mainly due to lack of recognition by governments of Member States, as well as unsupportive policies.

Goal	To establish and/or revitalize rangeland resource governance customary and statutory institutions.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Review, strengthening and mainstreaming of traditional institutions and practices, as well as enhancing statutory frameworks, practices and institutions that govern access and management of pasture, water, minerals, wildlife and forest resources;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Development of legislation to enable enforcement of by-laws for the customary rangeland management institutions used by the pastoralists and agro-pastoralist communities;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Participatory mapping of the key grazing and water resources, migratory routes and capacity building of the communities on Participatory Rangeland Management (PRM) through peer to peer learning and pastoral field schools;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Outscaling PRM using guidelines already piloted in MS e.g Ethiopia and currently in Kenya (Baringo County) as a way of ensuring effective consultation and participation of communities in rangeland management interventions.</li> </ul>
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Supportive government policies;</li> <li>Funds for PRM outscaling, capacity building and lobbying activities;</li> <li>PRM guide and experts for governance.</li> </ul>
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>Mainstreamed customary rangeland management institutions and practices;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Conducive legal framework for binding customary rangeland management constitutions and laws;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Improved capacity of land users, to implement traditional rangeland resource management practices;</li> </ul>
	• Participatory Rangeland Management Plans and Monitoring and Learning;
	<ul> <li>Increased recognition and application of PRM practices in the IGAD region.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of customary rangeland management institutions, policies and laws;</li> </ul>
	Number of countries or communities practicing PRM;
	Number of practitioners and communities trained on community-based rangeland management and PRM.

Table 7: Action Plan for Strengthening Governance of Rangeland Resources

Goal	To establish and/or revitalize rangeland resource governance customary and statutory institutions.
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Improved rangeland management and health;</li> <li>Equitable access to rangeland resources and reduced conflicts over resources.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul><li>Number of months of pasture and water availability;</li><li>Incidences of conflict over resources.</li></ul>

# 4.6 Strategic Objective 5: Secure Rangeland Rights and Tenure

4.6.1 The Challenge: Insecure Land Rights and Tenure in the Rangelands

In the past, pastoralists within IGAD region had access to vast tracts of rangeland that were managed through customary institutions at different levels and for different resources. The sound management of rangelands was, and in some cases still is, promoted through norms of inclusion designed for pastoral activities. However presently, there occur complex property rights regimes within the rangelands of IGAD region owing to tenure changes that have taken place. Tenure pluralism where customary and statutory land tenure systems for the same resource overlap often exist, leading to loss of exclusive rights to full ownership of land by pastoralists. The subsequent confusion in policy and land administration in turn becomes a source of conflict, insecurity and inefficient use of the rangeland resources.

Harmonization of customary and statutory land laws poses significant challenges for rangeland managers and policy-makers. For example, even though the statutory land laws give substantial ownership and user rights to communities, in reality they either lack subsidiary legislation to allow enforcement or are unclear in their application as is the cases in Kenya's community land Act and Ethiopia's Federal and Regional State land laws.

Goal	To secure land rights and tenure regimes to ensure equitable access to resources and provide incentive for users to engage in sustainable rangeland management.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Harmonization of customary and statutory land laws;</li> <li>Recognition and formalisation of common property tenure regimes through registration of customary, individual or family or community "collective" landholdings within rangelands;</li> <li>Building on the existing customary institutions to develop rangeland rights and formalize tenure at more appropriate scale (landscape level);</li> </ul>

 Table 8: Action Plan for Securing Rangeland Rights and Tenure

Goal	To secure land rights and tenure regimes to ensure equitable access to resources and provide incentive for users to engage in sustainable rangeland management.
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Collaboration and co-operation from the communities living in the rangelands;</li> <li>Supportive policies and political goodwill.</li> </ul>
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>New and revised land tenure policies and laws;</li> <li>Integrated statutory and customary rangeland rights and tenure;</li> <li>Land tenure and land laws that are appropriate to the local contexts of the rangelands.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of Member States with rangeland land tenure policies and laws;</li> <li>Number of cases of integrated statutory and customary rangeland rights and secure tenure regimes.</li> </ul>
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Recognition and formalisation of common property tenure regimes in the rangelands;</li> <li>Secure national and regional pastoral community land rights and tenure systems.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of rangelands/pastoralist communities with secure land rights.</li> </ul>

# 4.7 Strategic Objective 6: Regulate Rangeland Use and Planning

#### 4.7.1 The Challenge: Rangeland Encroachment and Fragmentation

Rangelands in the IGAD region are currently facing major pressures including land fragmentation arising from land tenure and land use change driven by land demand for expansion of agriculture, conservation, settlement, infrastructure development, extractive industries associated with mineral mining and exploitation of oil, gas and geothermal resources, among others. The general trend has been towards land privatization and fragmentation of communal rangelands. The most common type of rangeland fragmentation in the region is conversion into large scale agriculture, residential and urban development. In some countries, rangeland fragmentation has led to restriction of access by pastoralist communities to critical grazing and water resources. The restricted mobility results in sedentariness of pastoralists, increase in grazing pressure around settlements, competition and conflicts over scarce rangeland resources among pastoralist communities. The rampant rangeland conversion is mainly attributed to lack of regulated land use, inadequate land use policies and rangeland planning.

Table 9: Action Plan for Regulating Rangeland Use

Goal	To develop regulations and plans to ensure appropriate and sustainable use of rangelands.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Formulation of land use policies, land use plans and requisite laws by Member States to enable regulation of rangeland use;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Harmonize and regulate multiple uses for optimization of benefits from the rangelands;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Development and implemention of policies to regulate extractive industries to ensure they mitigate the environmental, socio-cultural and economic impacts by investing on sustainable land management and sharing benefits with communities;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Promotion of participatory rangeland use planning and customary grazing management practices among pastoralist communities;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Cadastral survey to identify and map the physical boundaries of rangelands;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Regulation and registration of seasonal movements, protection of grazing areas and livestock corridors and development of pastoral/grazing zones and water points;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Development and implementation frameworks for national land policies.</li> </ul>
Input/	Supportive government policies;
Resources	<ul> <li>Maps of spatial expanse of rangelands and livelihood zones (multiple uses);</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Funds to support interventions;</li> </ul>
	• Expertise in land use planning and land use policies.
Expected	<ul> <li>Revised and new rangeland use policies and plans;</li> </ul>
Outputs	<ul> <li>Rangeland use planning integrated into rangeland development plans;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Maps showing physical boundaries of rangelands in Member States;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Gazetted cattle corridors to facilitate seasonal livestock movements.</li> </ul>
Output	Number of rangeland use policies, plans and enacted laws;
Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of Member States with rangeland maps showing physical boundaries of rangelands;</li> </ul>
	Number of Members States showing critical resources including gazetted livestock corridors.

Goal	To develop regulations and plans to ensure appropriate and sustainable use of rangelands.
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Reduced encroachment and conversion of rangelands to other land uses;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased livestock mobility and therefore more even use of rangelands and reduced incidences of conflicts;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased role of rangeland users in decision-making processes;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Improved and sustainable rangeland land use.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	Spatial proportions of unfragmented rangelands;
	<ul> <li>Number of pastoralist communities/regions using rangeland use plans;</li> </ul>
	Number of livestock corridors in use.

#### 4.8 Strategic Objective 7: Establishment and /or Operationalizing of Cross-Border and within Countries Transhumance Agreements and Inter-Community Resource Sharing Mechanisms

# 4.8.1 The Challenge: Restricted Transboundary and Inter-Community Resource Sharing

Livestock mobility is a key adaptation mechanism in the rangelands and a crucial strategy for risk management in the unpredictable environments in the ASALs. Given the spatial and temporal variations in the rangelands, the uneven distribution of grazing and water resources in the landscape, the need for mobility often goes beyond community territories and national borders. Transboundary natural resource management (TBNRM) approach is therefore a prerequisite for sustainable management of rangeland resources that traverse the communal and national borders. In addition, cross-border transhumance agreements are required to ensure free and peaceful movements of livestock herds across borders with shared rangeland resources. Whereas IGAD gives a lot of emphasis on the cross-border transhumance mechanisms which has seen the development of the IGAD transhumance protocol and establishment of eight Cross Border Clusters for intervention, much hasn't been achieved towards operationalization of the various bilateral and multilateral transboundary agreements in the various cross border clusters. In the absence of operational transboundary transhumance protocol, there is restricted access to grazing and water resources during dry periods, often accompanied by conflicts and incidences of cross-border livestock diseases. In addition, little attention and recognition has been given to inter-community negotiated resource sharing

agreements and conflict resolution mechanisms, with governments preferring to use state machinery to restore peace during conflicts. Such interventions are however short-lived as they are not entrenched in the customary systems, and therefore not respected by the communities.

#### Table 10: Action Plan for Establishing/Operationalizing Cross-Border and within Countries Transhumance Agreements and Inter-Community Resource Sharing Mechanisms

Goal	To ensure equitable access to transboundary rangeland resources and peaceful inter-community resource sharing.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Inventory and mapping of the rangeland resources and safe mobility routes to inform sharing mechanisms;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Fast tracking of the operationalization of the cross-border bilateral and multi-lateral agreements for the international borders with shared resources;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Strengthening and where possible mainstreaming of the traditional transboundary herd movement and resource sharing agreements;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Institutionalisation and strengthening of traditional inter- community locally negotiated access to rangeland resources, and cross-border resource sharing, conflict resolution and peace building mechanisms;</li> </ul>
	• Establishment of Transboundary Natural Resource Management (TBNRM) within the cross-border clusters and across territorial boundaries among communities within countries to foster interaction among communities and promote landscape approach to sustainable rangeland mangement.
Input/	• Funds to roll-out the activities;
Resources	<ul> <li>Conflict resolution and peace building, rangeland management, and policy experts;</li> </ul>
	Supportive national and regional policies.
Expected	Bilateral and multilateral cross-border agreements;
Outputs	<ul> <li>Strengthened cross-border inter-communities herd movement and rangeland resource sharing mechanisms;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Recognized intercommunity negotiated resource sharing agreements and conflict resolution mechanisms;</li> </ul>
	Cross-border livestock disease surveillance unit;
	TBNRM projects in the cross-border clusters;
	Cross–border conflict resolution and peace committees.

Goal	To ensure equitable access to transboundary rangeland resources and peaceful inter-community resource sharing.
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of cross border bilateral and multilateral agreements;</li> <li>Number of Inter-community resource sharing and peace agreements;</li> <li>Number of functional cross-border livestock disease surveillance units;</li> <li>Number fo TBNRM projects in cross-border clusters;</li> <li>Number of cross -border conflict resolution and peace committees.</li> </ul>
Expected Out- comes	<ul> <li>Enhanced herd mobility and peaceful and equitable sharing of grazing and water resources;</li> <li>Enhanced peace and security among pastoral communities;</li> <li>Reduced livestock diseases incidences across the borders;</li> <li>Enhanced rangeland ecosystem services.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of cross-border conflicts and security incidences;</li> <li>Number of cross-border livestock disease incidences.</li> </ul>

# 4.9 Strategic Objective 8: Improve Research, Extension, Human Resource Capacity and Knowledge Management

# 4.9.1 The Challenge: Inadequate Research, Extension and Technical Training, and Poor Knowledge Management

Whereas research capacity in rangeland management in IGAD region is fair, there is limited and unreliable research funding. In addition, there is little knowledge among actors and mindset based on misunderstandings of rangeland ecosystems and pastoral production system. Even though, a lot of studies have been done, there is still poor documentation especially on the good practices in rangeland management and indigenous knowledge leading to inadequate awareness of the existing resource base and lack of regular rangeland resource assessments and monitoring. There is inadequate rangeland extension system due to lack of skilled manpower, as well as limited knowledge sharing and technology transfer among the various stakeholders. In addition, the application of research recommendations is weak and out scaling of successful projects is inadequate, further compounding the poor dissemination and adoption of new innovations and technologies. There exist low institutional capacity especially within the specific government ministries and agencies charged with the responsibility for overseeing and implementing development programmes in the rangelands.

# Table 11: Action Plan for Improving Research, Extension, Human ResourceCapacity and Knowledge Management

Goal	To build research, training and human resource capacity and strengthen knowledge management system.	
Interventions	<ul> <li>Establishment of rangeland management training and research fund for enhanced capacity in rangeland management in IGAD region;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Strengthening the existing research, training and extension institutions as centers of excellence in rangeland management and improve coordination among them;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Establish rangeland observatory sites in the IGAD MS to enable assessment and monitoring of rangeland condition and trends;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Support Universities and Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVETs) to develop and deliver rangeland resource management curricula;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Co-generation of knowledge through integration of indigenous knowledge in rangeland management research, extension and interventions;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Establishment of multi-stakeholders digital knowledge management system and strengthening networks for sharing information and knowledge on rangeland management within the region;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Improve linkage between research and extension through rangeland research network and communities of practice;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Use research evidence to change the negative narratives and misconceptions about rangeland ecosystems and pastoral production system.</li> </ul>	
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Funds to support training (scholarships), research and establishment of regional rangeland centers of excellence;</li> <li>Supportive policies, strategies and plans;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Rangeland management experts to support capacity building.</li> </ul>	
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>Rangeland management incorporated into existing University and TVET training programmes and institutional capacity built to offer training in rangeland management;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Existing research and extension institutions strengthened and coordination among them improved;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Regional rangeland research fund established;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Research information that reflect the realities and interventions that are responsive to local needs;</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Regional rangeland management centres of excellence established in existing training institutions.</li> </ul>	

Goal	To build research, training and human resource capacity and strengthen knowledge management system.
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of Universities and TVETs offering rangeland management programmes;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number of centres of excellence for rangeland management in the region;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number of personnel from TVETs and government departments trained in rangeland management;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number of scholarships and research grants awarded in the region;</li> </ul>
	• Number of rangeland observatory sites in the MS.
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Critical mass of experts in rangeland management trained;</li> <li>Substantial and relevant empirical evidence to inform rangeland management;</li> <li>Proper targeting and site-specific rangeland management interventions.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of rangeland management experts trained;</li> <li>Number of technical reports, guidelines, manuals, scientific publications and books produced.</li> </ul>

# 4.10 Strategic Objective 9: Promote Investment in Sustainable Rangeland Management

#### 4.10.1 The Challenge: Inadequate Investment in Rangeland Management

The low investment in sustainable rangeland management in IGAD region is mainly linked to the misconceptions about arid and semi-arid lands and the pastoral production system, as well as the lack of recognition of the value of rangelands and pastoral system to national, regional and continental economies. The systemic undervaluation of rangelands is linked to lack of data and information required to evaluate the comparative value of rangelands against the competing land uses. Because of this, there has been consistently little attention and progress towards having supportive policies. The result is comparatively low government budgetary allocation to rangeland management as compared to other sectors. In the absence of information on total economic value of rangelands, private investors are equally reluctant to invest in development of rangelands.

#### Table 12: Action Plan for Promoting Investment in Sustainable Rangeland Management

Goal	To increase investment in rangelands aimed at enhancing the resilience of rangeland ecosystems and livelihoods.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Provide incentives for public-private investment partnerships in sustainmable rangeland management (SRM);</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Total economic valuation (TEV) of rangeland ecosystem services to show socio-cultural, ecological and economic contribution of rangelands to form the basis for investment on SRM, policies formulation and resource allocation by governments;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Development of value chains and business models for fodder and other rangeland products such as meat, honey, gums and resins, fibre, among others;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Promotion of investment in complementary economic activities such as wildlife conservation and ecotourism, carbon trading, among others.</li> </ul>
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Funds to facilitate sensitization and awareness raising activities, and TEV studies and development of value chains;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Environmental economics and sustainable land management experts;</li> </ul>
	Supportive policies.
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>Empirical evidence on the value of rangeland ecosystem services;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Value chain of rangeland products developed;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased value addition of rangeland products;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Increased budgetary allocation and formulation of supportive policies for rangeland management by governments.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of scientific publications and reports on TEV of rangelands;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number of value chains developed and value added rangeland products;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Supportive rangeland management policy documents;</li> </ul>
	Amount of budgetary allocation by governments.
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Increased of investment in rangeland management by governments and private sector;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Diversified livelihoods and healthy rangelands.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of government and privately funded projects in the rangelands;</li> </ul>
	Number of adopted alternative livelihood activities.

# 4.11 Strategic Objective 10: Strengthen Drought Risk Management, Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

#### 4.11.1 The Challenge: Frequent Droughts and Climate Change

The Horn of Africa is faced with frequent extreme climatic events manifested in recurrent droughts with rainfall increasingly becoming scarce, variable and unpredictable leading to pasture and water resources scarcity. Inadequate and fluctuating availability of fodder and water are attributed to both the extreme climatic conditions and lack of proper resource management plans. The situation is made worse by inadequate conservation and lack of strategic feed reserves which further constrains livestock production especially during the drought periods. Frequent droughts and increasing pasture scarcity necessitate regular and long distance movements with far reaching effects such as frequent conflicts over resources and ultimate loss of livestock productivity. Generally, there is low adaptation capacity due to minimal diversification and lack of value addition of rangeland products such as meat and plant products to compliment mainstream sources of income for pastoral communities. In addition, there is poor meteorological infrastructure, inadequate access and use of climate information, services and inadequate capacity to tap into climate change adaptation funds.

Table 13: Action Plan	for Strengthening Drought Risk Management,	Climate
Change Adaptation a	nd Mitigation	

Goal	To build resilience of rangeland ecosystems to drought and climate change.
Interventions	<ul> <li>Mainstreaming of Climate Risk Management (CRM) into development planning at national and sub-national levels by developing a CRM frameworks for rangelands and awareness creation and training of relevant government personnel;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Leveraging on Ending Drought Emergencies (EDE) activities to protect and create productive assets such as water sources and reserve pastures to cushion pastoralists against drought impacts;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Strengthen existing regional drought risk management systems and emergency response through contingency funds;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Promotion of Ecosystem-Based Adaptation (EBA) to optimize use of the multiple resources in the rangelands through approaches such as community based wildlife conservation as away of diversifying sources of livelihoods through ecotourism;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Building capacity of communities and promotion of carbon trading and other Payment of Ecosystem Services (PES) approaches as incentives to the communities to engage in Sustainable Rangeland Management (SRM) for increased carbon sequestration and to ensure Land Degradation Neutrality (LDN).</li> </ul>

Goal	To build resilience of rangeland ecosystems to drought and climate change.
Input/ Resources	<ul> <li>Funds to support the proposed activities;</li> <li>CRM training module/manual for Climate change and disaster risk management experts;</li> <li>Supportive government policies.</li> </ul>
Expected Outputs	<ul> <li>CRM framework for IGAD MS;</li> <li>Government personnel trained on CRM mainstreaming;</li> <li>EBA and PES approaches adopted by IGAD MS;</li> <li>Increased budgetary allocation towards climate change adaptation and mitigation.</li> </ul>
Output Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of MS with CRM frameworks;</li> <li>Number of government personnel trained on mainstreaming CRM;</li> <li>Amount of budgetary allocation to climate change adaptation and mitigation;</li> <li>Number of successfully executed climate change adaptation and mitigation projects.</li> </ul>
Expected Outcomes	<ul> <li>Effective mitigation and adaptation to climate change in the rangelands;</li> <li>Reduced drought related livestock and human deaths.</li> </ul>
Outcome Indicators	<ul> <li>Number of resilient pastoralist households;</li> <li>Level of livestock mortalities due to drought and other extreme climatic events.</li> </ul>

# **5. IMPLEMENTATION FRAMEWORK**

In order to actualize the RRMSF, an implementation framework is required to ensure domestication of the proposed interventions. Figure 9 presents a simplified implementation framework outlining the responsible institutions and organizations that constitutes the envisaged implementation structure and their roles in execution of the proposed actions.

# 5.1 Implementing Institutions & Organizations

#### The key players in implementation of the RRMSF will include:

**i.** National and sub-national government institutions: Will be responsible for formulation of policies and resource allocations to support sustainable rangeland management; and implementation of interventions and provision of extension services.

- **ii. Research and academic institutions:** Will be expected to generate empirical evidence and innovative technologies and training to build human resource capacity (for both rangeland managers and decision makers).
- **iii. Communities, community-based organizations (CBOs), civil society organizations (CSOs):** Will have a role in co-production of knowledge and co-implementation of interventions and will be the ultimate beneficiaries of sustainable rangeland management. The CSOs will be expected to lead lobbying and advocacy for supportive policies, laws and development interventions.
- **iv. Development agencies:** Will be expected to participate in implementation of regional and national policies through resource mobilization to support interventions.
- v. **Private sector:** Will be needed for substantial investments in sustainable rangeland management through public-private partnerships in rangeland management.
- vi. Mass media: Will be crucial for publicity, advocacy and general information dissemination and communication.

# 5.2 Coordination, Planning, Monitoring and Reporting

To ensure effective and efficient implementation of the RRMSF, there will be need to establish national technical committees in each IGAD MS. The committees will comprise representation from relevant government ministries, academia and development agencies and will be tasked with planning and execution of activities related to RRMSF. In addition, the committees will be responsible for monitoring and evaluation, as well as reporting to the Regional Feed and Range Platform in IGAD Member States. ICPALD will rely on the regional Feed and Range Platforms for reporting purposes.

# 5.3 Oversight

The regional coordination of the implementation of the RRMSF will be undertaken by IGAD Center for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) whose role will be mainly oversight and collating and analysis of MS monitoring and evaluation reports to track performance of the implementation process and documentation of learnings.

# 5.4 Road Map for Domestication of the RRMSF

The IGAD Member States will be expected to domesticate the RRMSF either by aligning the existing rangeland management policies and strategies to the proposed interventions in the RRMSF or developing new strategies in line with the RRMSF. Each MS will be required to develop a road map for the planned activities and timelines as a basis for participatory monitoring and evaluation of progress towards domesticating the RRMSF by IGAD and MS.

# CONCLUSION

Whereas some effort has been made in formulating policies related to rangeland management in individual countries and regionally, there are still significant challenges that could be addressed by harmonizing the existing policies and drawing lessons from on-going interventions in various countries. It is however important to note that policies related to rangeland management and pastoralism should not lose focus of the intricate nexus among the sociocultural, economic, ecological and climatic factors that exist within IGAD rangelands. In addition, cultural and historical aspects, participation of the pastoral communities, recognition of the customary mechanisms of regulating resource access and use, as well as those used in resolving conflicts should be central to strategies and plans aimed at achieving sustainable management of rangelands. Furthermore, more attention need to be given to security of pastoral communal land rights and tenure, which supports mobility as the tenet of pastoral production system. It is therefore paramount that, beside other factors, formulation of rangeland management and pastoralism policies, strategies and plans aimed at achieving sustainable rangeland management considers the following:

- Championing of attitude change with regards to pastoralism and pastoralists, which has been based mainly on misconceptions and old paradigms depicting the system as archaic and pastoralists as irrational producers. On the contrary, several studies have shown that pastoral production system is well adapted to the precarious conditions in the ASALs and therefore the most suitable land use in the arid and semi-arid rangelands where crop failure is high under rain-fed conditions, and initial and maintenance costs for irrigated farming are often prohibitive. There is therefore need for experts and decisions makers to appreciate pastoralism as a production system that has sustained the productivity of the rangeland ecosystems over the years and continues to support millions of people globally
- Mobility is a key strategy for harnessing transient resources that vary in availability, quantity and quality from time to time and one place to the other in the arid and semi-arid rangelands. In addition, it allows even use of rangelands and therefore distribution of pressure on the larger landscape that includes both inter-community and cross-border scales. However, effective herd mobility requires communal land tenure, customary institutions, security and peace as prerequisites.
- Any efforts towards achieving sustainability in the rangelands should consider participation of pastoral communities and acknowledgement of the legitimacy of indigenous pastoral institutions. The traditional institutions based on indigenous knowledge system and practices govern

the use of natural resources at local level and therefore play a pivotal role in sustainable management of rangelands. Their role encompasses traditional pastoral leadership and structures in rangeland governance, including conflict resolution, management of land rights and mobility, and facilitation of interactions and peaceful co-existence between pastoralists and other interest groups such as crop farmers with whom they share resources.

 Analysis of existing policies and proclamations points at the need to pay more attention to understanding rangeland ecosystems, their potential, as well as the needs of the communities inhabiting them as prerequisite for addressing the problems facing the ASALs in IGAD region. This calls for political goodwill and commitment of respective governments. As indicated by ICPALD (2017), "Good land policies should guarantee access to and security of the land for the long-run and allow for flexible use; ensure equitable access in the distribution of land resources; protect, preserve, and conserve land and other natural resources for future generations; and facilitate planning, provision of basic services and infrastructure, and development and enforcement of land regulation. Such policies should be regularly revised in response to competing social, economic and political demands".

### REFERENCES

- Allen, V.G., Batello, C., Beretta, E.J., Hodgson, J., Kothmann, M., Li, X., McIvor, J., Milne, J., Morris, C., Peeters, A. and Sanderson, M. (2011). An international terminology for grazing lands and grazing animals (The Forage and Grazing Terminology Committee). Grass and Forage Science. 66: 2-2
- AU-IBAR (2012). Rational Use of Rangelands and Fodder Crop Development in Africa. AU-IBAR Monographic Series No. 1
- African Union (2010b). Land Policy in Africa: A Framework to Strengthen Land Rights, Enhance Productivity and Secure Livelihoods.
- African Union (2010a). Policy Framework for Pastoralism in Africa: Securing, Protecting and Improving the Lives, Livelihoods and Rights of Pastoralist Communities. Department of Rural Economy and Agriculture, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.
- Behnke R. and Muthami D. (2011). The Contribution of Livestock to the Kenyan Economy (IGAD LPI Working Paper No. 03 –11) 2011. An ICPALD working paper, IGAD Centre for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD). Nairobi, Kenya.
- Beintema, Nienke M. and Menelik Solomon. (2003). Agricultural science and technology indicators: Ethiopia. ASTI Country Brief No. 9. IFPRI, ISNAR and EARO. http://www.asti.cgiar.org/pubsafrica.htm (PDF). Accessed 10 February 2004.
- Benard Chira Gituku, Oliver Vivian Wasonga and Robinson Kinuthia Ngugi (2015). Economic contribution of the pastoral meat trade in Isiolo Town, Kenya. IIED Country Report. IIED, London. http://pubs.iied.org/10124IIED I S B N: 9 78 -1-78 4 31-15 3 -7
- Michael Bollig, Michael Schnegg, and Hans-Peter Wotzka (Editors). Pastoralism on Africa: Past, Present and Future. 1st ed., Berghahn Books (2013). JSTOR, www. jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qcrb7.
- UNEP/CBD/COP/13/INF/28 (2016). Conference of the Parties to the Convention On Biological Diversity. Thirteenth meeting. Cancun, Mexico, 4-17 December 2016
- Davies, J (2007). Total economic valuation of Kenyan pastoralism. WISP-IUCN, Nairobi.
- East African Community (EAC) (2010). The East African Community Transboundary Ecosystems Management Bill, 2010. A Bill for an Act Entitledthe East African Communitytransboundary Ecosystems Managementact, 2010.
- El Hadary, Y. A. (2010). Challenges facing land tenure system in relation to pastoral livelihood security in Gedarif State, Eastern Sudan. Geography and Regional Planning 3(9), 208-218.
- Esther Mwangi & Brent Swallow (2005). Invasion of *Prosopis juliflora* and local livelihoods: Case study from the lake Baringo area of Kenya. ICRAF Working Paper no. 3. Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre
- FAO (2011). Manual for Local Level Assessment of Land Degradation and Sustainable Land Management. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome

- FAO (2012). Kenya's Tea Sector under Climate Change. An Assessment of and Formulation of a Climate-Smart Strategy. FAO.
- FAO. (2008). Managing East African for Better Response to Feed Crisis. Proceedings of Sub-Regional Workshop held on 9-12 November 2008, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, FAO Sub Regional Office for East Africa (SFE).
- FAO. 2018. Pastoralism in Africa's drylands. Rome. 52 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia (FDRE) (2001) Statement on Pastoral Development Policy, Addis Ababa: Ministry of Federal Affairs.
- Flintan, F (2011). Broken Lands: Broken Lives?" Causes, processes and impacts of land fragmentation in the rangelands of Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda. The Regional Learning and Advocacy Programme (REGLAP).
- Gaiballa, A. Karamall (2011). Natural Resources, Governance and Pastoralism in Sudan. Working Paper. Feinstein International Centre.
- Government of Kenya (GoK). (2013). Draft National Policy for Disaster Risk Management. Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination of National Government, Government of Kenya.
- GoK. (2016a). A Climate Risk Management Framework for Kenya. National Drought Management Authority. Republic of Kenya.
- GoK. (2016b). The Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016. Kenya Gazette Supplement No. 148 (Acts No. 27). Republic of Kenya, Nairobi, 7th September, 2016.
- GoK. (2012). Sessional Paper No. 8 of 2012 on the National Policy for the Sustainable Development of Northern Kenya and other Arid Lands. Ministry of State for Development of Northern Kenya and other Arid Lands, Government of Kenya.
- GoK. (2017). National Policy for the Sustainable Development of Arid and Semi-Arid Lands: 'Unlocking Our Full Potential for the Realization of the Kenya Vision 2030'. Ministry of Devolution and ASAL Areas, Government of Kenya.
- Government of Sudan (GoS). (2015). Rangelands and Forages Resources Development (Rationalization Act, 2015).
- Hobbs, N.T., Galvin, K.A., Stokes, C.J., Lackett, J.M., Ash, A.J., Boone, R.B., Reid, R.S and Thornton, P.K (2008). Fragmentation of rangelands: Implications for humans, animals, and landscapes. Global Environmental Change 18, 776–785
- Homewood, M. K. (2004). Policy, environment and development in African rangelands. Environmental Science & policy, 7, 125-143.
- Hutchinson, B., Pfander, J., Tanaka, J., and Clark, J. (2011) Rangelands West/Global Rangelands, extension Rangelands, and the Range Science Information System, The Rangelands West portal, available at http://rangelandswest.org accessed on October, 19 2018.
- ICPALD (2012). Regional Integration Support Programme (Risp Ii) Continuation. Identification and Mapping of Key Cross-Border Livestock Routes and Markets, Services and Priority Transboundary Animal Diseases Including Zoonotics For Regional and International Trade.
- IFAD-ICRC (2005). Regional Livestock Study in the Greater Horn of Africa.

- IGAD (2017). IGAD Drought Resilience Summit: Visioning A Transformational Agenda for The Next 5 Years. Convened in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia from 29 to 31 August 2017.
- IGAD Centre for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) (2013). The contribution of Livestock to the Kenyan Economy. Policy Brief Series No: ICPALD 4/CLE/8/2013. ICPALD.
- IGAD Centre for Pastoral Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) (2017). Policies and Proclamations Relevant to Pastoral Areas Land Management for Ethiopia, Kenya and Uganda, Regional Pastoral Livelihoods Resilience Project (RPLRP).
- IGAD. (2015). IGAD Centre for Pastoralist Areas and Livestock Development (ICPALD) Strategic Plan, 2016-2020.
- IIED (International Institute for Environment and Development) and SOS Sahel International UK (2010). Modern and mobile: The future of livestock production in Africa's drylands. ISBN 978-1-84369-752-7
- IRIN. (2007). Africa: Can pastoralism survive in the 21st century? UN Integrated Regional Information Networks, World Press (available at *http://www.worldpress. org/Africa/2861.cfm*).
- Jonathan Davies, Pedro Herrera, Jabier Ruiz-Mirazo, Jennifer Mohamed-Katerere, Inan Hannam, Emmanuel Nuesiri (2016). Improving governance of pastoral lands Implementing the Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land, Fisheries and Forests in the Context of National Food Security. Governance of Tenure Technical Guide 6. FAO
- Johnsen, K.I., M. Niamir-Fuller, A. Bensada, and A. Waters-Bayer. (2019). A case of benign neglect: Knowledge gaps about sustainabilityvin pastoralism and rangelands. United Nations EnvironmentvProgramme and GRID-Arendal, Nairobi and Arendal, www.grida.nov. ISBN: 978-82-7701-181-3
- Joseph M. Maitima, Simon M. Mugatha, Robin S. Reid, Louis N. Gachimbi, Amos Majule, Herbert Lyaruu, Derek Pomery, Stephen Mathai, and Sam Mugisha. (2009). The linkages between land use change, land degradation and biodiversity across East Africa. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology Vol. 3 (10), pp. 310-325.
- Kassim F. and Ahmed A. (2016). UNDP Technical Resilience Technical Paper Series No.3
- Kennedy Sakimba Kimiti, David Western, Judith Syombua Mbau, Oliver Vivian Wasonga. (2018). Impacts of long-term land-use changes on herd size and mobility among pastoral households in Amboseli ecosystem, Kenya. Ecological Processes December (2018) 7:4. DOI 10.1186/s13717-018-0115-
- Knips Vivien. (2004). Review of the Livestock Sectors in the Horn of Africa (IGAD Countries). Livestock Information, Sector Analysis and Policy Branch, FAO.
- Krätli, S (2014). If not counted does not count? A programmatic reflection on methodology options and gaps in total Economic Valuation studies of pastoral systems.
- Kyuma R. K., Wahome R. G., Kinama J. M. and V. O. Wasonga (2016). Temporal relationship between climate variability, Prosopis juliflora invasion and

livestock numbers in the drylands of Magadi, Kenya. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology. Vol. 10(4), pp. 129 – 140. DOI: 10.5897/ AJEST2015.2034. Article Number: 2AD0D6B58204. ISSN 1996-0786.

- Le, Q. B., Nkonya, E., & Mirzabaev, A. (2014). Biomass productivity-based mapping of global land degradation hotspots. ZEF-Discussion Papers on Development Policy, (193). Bonn, Germany.
- Marcelino Napao Iruata, Oliver V Wasonga and Robinson Kinuthia Ngugi (2015). Economic contribution of the pastoral meat trade in Isiolo County, Kenya: Findings from Oldonyiro and Garbatulla Towns. IIED Country Report. IIED, London. http://pubs.iied.org/10126/IED ISBN: 9 78 -1-78 4 31-15 5 –
- MEA, (2005) Millennium Ecosystem Assessment and Human Well-being: Desertification Synthesis. World Resource Institute, Washington, DC.
- Michele Meroni, Wai-Tim Ng, Felix Rembold, Ugo Leonardi, Clement Atzberger, Hussein Gadain, Muse Shaiye (2016). Mapping Prosopis juliflora in West Somaliland with Landsat 8 Satellite Imagery and Ground Information. Land degradation & development Land Degrad. Develop. 28: 494–506 (2017). DOI: 10.1002/ldr.2611
- Mortimore, M., Anderson, S., Cotula, L., Davies, J., Faccer, K., Hesse, C., Morton, J., Nyangena, W., Skinner, J. and Wolfangel, C. (2009). Dryland Opportunities: A new paradigm for people, ecosystems and development. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland; IIED, London, UK and UNDP/DDC, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Neely, C., Bunning, S., and Wilkes, A., (2009) Review of evidence on drylands pastoral systems and climate change: Implications and opportunities for mitigation and adaptation. (Land and Water Discussion Paper #8). FAO, Rome. http://www.fao. org/uploads/media/LWdisc\_paper8\_temp.pdf accessed on 24 October 2018.
- Olson, J.M (2006). Implications of trends in land use change for livestock systems evolution in East Africa: Lessons from the LUCID Project. Targeting and Innovations Discussion Paper No. 4. (Draft). ILRI (International Livestock Research Institute), Nairobi, Kenya. 41 pp.
- Pasiecznik, Nick, Peter Felker, P.J.C., Harris, L.N. Harsh, G. Cruz, J.C., Tewari, K. Cadoret and L.J. Maldonado (2001). The Prosopis juliflora-Prosopis pallida complex: A monograph. HDRA, Coventy, UK.
- Pratt, D.J. and Gwynne, M.D. (Eds.) (1977) Rangeland Management and Ecology in East Africa. Hodder & Stoughton, London-Sydney-Auckland-Toronto.
- D. J. Pratt, P. J. Greenway and M. D. Gwynne. (1966). A Classification of East African Rangeland, with an Appendix on Terminology. Journal of Applied Ecology, Vol. 3, No. 2 (Nov., 1966), pp. 369-382. This content downloaded from 154.76.184.163 on Tue, 02 Jul 2019 10:50:05 UTCAll use subject to https:// about.jstor.org/terms
- Reid, R.S., Galvin, K.A., and Kruska, R.L., (2007) The global significances of extensive grazing lands and pastoral societies: An introduction. In: Galvin, K.A., Reid. R.S., Behnke, R.H., and Hobbs, N.T., Fragmentation of semi-arid and arid landscape: Consequences for human and natural systems. Springer, Dordrecht, pp1-2
- Rodriguez, L. (2008) A Global Perspective on the Total Economic Value of Pastoralism: Global Synthesis Report Based on Six Country Valuations. World Initiative for

Sustainable Pastoralism (WISP), IUCN.

- Safriel, U. and Adeel, Z. (2005). Dryland Systems. In: Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends Volume 1. Hassan, R., Scholes, R. and Ash, N., (eds). Washington, DC: Island Press.p. 623–62. W.G.
- Sombroek, H.M.H. Braun and B.J.A. van der Pouw. ISRIC LIBRARY. KE 82.03. Exploratory Soil Survey Report No. E1, Kenya Soil Survey, Nairobi 1982. Steven W. Lawry, Tenure (1990). Policy Toward Common Property Natural Resources in Sub-Saharan Africa, 30Nat. Resources J.403 (1990). Available at:https:// digitalrepository.unm.edu/nrj/vol30/iss2/9
- Society for Range Management (SRM). (1998). Glossary of terms used in range management, fourth edition. https://globalrangelands.org/glossary/R?term
- Takele Geta Gina. (2015). An Appraisal on Rangeland Resources and Its Current Status in Ethiopia: Challenges and Opportunities. 2015. International Journal of Emerging Technology and Advanced Engineering. Website: www.ijetae.com (ISSN 2250-2459, ISO 9001:2008 Certified Journal, Volume 5, Issue 8, August 2015
- Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia (FDRE) (2014). Draft National Strategy on Prosopis Juliflora Management. Ministry of Agriculture State Ministry of Livestock Development Sector.
- Tsedeke Abate, Abera Deressa and Amare Molla (2014). The Ethiopian NARs: Evolution, Challenges & Opportunities. ASARECA Strategic Planning Paper No. 1, presented to the Meeting of ASARECA/NARS/World Bank Retreat on Reform of Agricultural Research and Technology Dissemination Systems in Eastern Africa, 26 28 February 2004, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia
- UNCCD (1994). United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in Countries. Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, Particularly in Africa. United Nations, New York, USA. http://www.unccd.int/convention/text/convention. php
- UNCCD (2008). Desertification, Rangelands and Water Resources Working Group. Final Thematic Report
- UNCCD. (2009). Climate Change in the African Drylands: Options and Opportunities for Adaptation and Mitigation. UNDP (NY, USA), UNCCD (Bonn, Germany) and UNEP (Nairobi, Kenya).
- UNEP. (2009). Climate change in the African drylands: Options and opportunities for adaptation and mitigation. UNEP, UNCCD and UNDP.
- United Nations (2015). United Nations Summit: Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: A Draft Outcome Document of the United Nations Summit for the adoption of the post-2015 development agenda, 2 August 2015.
- Verschuuren, B., Wild, R.G., McNeely, J.A. and Oviedo, G. (2010). Sacred Natural Sites: Conserving Nature and Culture, Earthscan. Published September, 2010. Launched CBD COP 10.
- WHO (2010). Report on a consultation meeting: Essential public health package to enhance climate-change resilience in developing countries. Geneva.







#### IGAD CENTRE FOR PASTORAL AREAS AND LIVESTOCK DEVELOPMENT (ICPALD)

Kabete Veterinary Laboratories, Kapenguria Road, Off Waiyaki Way P. O. Box 47824 - 00100, Nairobi, Kenya | Tel: +254 737 777 742 | http://www.igad.int